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NOTICE OF MEETING 
OF COUNCIL 

A meeting of the College of Midwives of Ontario will take place on Wednesday, 
June 26, 2019 from 9:30 AM to 12:45 PM  in the College’s Board Room at 21 St. 
Clair Ave. E., Suite 303, Toronto, Ontario. 

Kelly Dobbin, 
Registrar & CEO
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CMO Council Meetings – Guidelines for Observers 

• Council meetings are held at the College of Midwives of Ontario in the Board Room
(21 St. Clair Ave E, Ste 303)

• Those attending the Council meetings as observers do not participate in the meeting.

• Observers are asked to be quiet during the meeting, and keep side conversations to a
minimum.

• Observers are asked to limit comings and goings during the meeting.  There are
morning and afternoon refreshment breaks and a one-hour break for lunch.

• Please turn off or silence mobile devices while in the Council Board Room.

• If a portion of the meeting is closed to the public, an announcement will be made to move
in-camera.  If known in advance, in-camera items are noted on the agenda.  The agenda
is posted to the CMO website one week prior to the scheduled Council meeting.

• The College is a fragrance-free environment.  This applies to all staff, CMO members,
Council representatives and visitors to the CMO.

• Observers can access the Council package materials approximately one week prior to
the scheduled Council Meeting.

If you have any questions after the meeting, please contact the College at cmo@cmo.on.ca 
or by phone at 416-640-2252, ext 227.
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COUNCIL AGENDA  
 
Wednesday, June 26, 2019 | 9:30 am to 12:45 pm 
College of Midwives of Ontario  
21 St Clair Ave, Suite 303 
 

Item Discussion Topic Presenter Time Action Materials Pg 

1.  Call to Order:   
Welcome, Safety Review, & 
Land Acknowledgment 

T. Haidon 9:30 INFORMATION - - 

       
2.  Conflict of Interest T. Haidon 9:35  - - 

       
3.  Review and Approval of 

Proposed Agenda 
T. Haidon 9:36 APPROVAL 3.0 Agenda 4 

       
4.  Consent Agenda  

- Draft Minutes of 
March 20, 2019 
Council Meeting 

- Inquiries, Complaints 
and Reports 
Committee Annual 
Report 

- Registration 
Committee Annual 
Report 

- Quality Assurance 
Committee Annual 
Report 

- Discipline Committee 
Annual Report  

- Fitness to Practise 
Committee Annual 
Report 

- Client Relations 
Committee Annual 
Report 

- Executive Committee 
Annual Report 

- 2018/2019 Annual 
Report (Draft) 

 

T. Haidon 9:38 APPROVAL 4.0 Draft Minutes 
4.1 ICRC annual 
report 
4.2 RC annual report 
4.3 QAC annual 
report 
4.4 Discipline 
4.5 FTP annual report 
4.6 CRC annual 
report 
4.7 EC annual report 
4.8 Draft 2018/2019 
Annual report  

6 

       
5. President’s Report T. Haidon 9:40 APPROVAL 6.0. President’s 

Report 
6.1 Letter from 
MOHLTC 

68 
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Item Discussion Topic Presenter Time Action Materials Pg 

6. Executive Committee Report T. Haidon  9:50 APPROVAL 7.0 EC report 
7.1 Q4 SOP 
 
 
 
 

72 

       
7. Auditor’s Report    B. MacKenzie 10:00 APPROVAL & 

Appointment 
of the Auditor 

8.0 Audited Financial 
Statements  

75 

BREAK 10:30 AM 
8. Registrar-CEO Report K. Dobbin 10:45 APPROVAL 9.0 Registrar-CEO 

Report 
9.1 SML Grey Matter 
summary of HC 
report 
9.2 Letter to Min. C. 
Elliott 
9.3 FHRCO 2018-
2019 Highlights 
 
 

92 

       
9. Performance Measurement 

Framework 
M. Solakhyan 11:15 APPROVAL 10.0 Briefing Note 

10.1 Draft PMF 
116 

       
10. Fees & Remuneration By-

laws 
K. Dobbin 11;45 APPROVAL 11.0Briefing Note 

11.1 Draft F & R by-
laws with revisions 

124 

       
11. Sexual Abuse Prevention 

Policy 
S. Sharma 12:25 APPROVAL 12.0 Briefing Note 

12.1 Revised SAPP 
138 

       
12.  Housekeeping 

- Council Competency 
Self-Assessment surveys 

Z. Grant 12:30 INFORMATION -  

       
13. Adjournment  T. Haidon 12:45 MOTION   
       
 Next Training & Meetings:  

October 8-9, 2019 
December 11, 2019 

  INFORMATION   
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MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETING  
 
 
Held on March 20, 2019 9:30 am to 5:00 pm 
Boardroom (21 St. Clair Avenue East) 
 

Chair: Tiffany Haidon, RM 
 

Present: Tiffany Haidon, RM; Jennifer Lemon; Claire Ramlogan-Salanga, RM; Lilly Martin, 
RM; Lisa Nussey, RM; Wendy Murko, RM; Susan “Sally” Lewis; John Stasiw; Jan 
Teevan, RM; Edan Thomas, RM; Deirdre Brett; Maureen Silverman, RM; Marianna 
Kaminska 
 

Regrets: 
 

 

 
Staff: 

Kelly Dobbin; Carolyn Doornekamp; Marina Solakhyan; Zahra Grant; Ashleagh 
Coyne 
 

Observers Sarah Kibaalya (Ministry of Health) 

Recorder Zahra Grant 

 
1. Call to Order, Safety, Welcome and Land Acknowlegement 

Tiffany Haidon, Chair, called the meeting to order at 9:31 am and welcomed all 
present. 

2. Declaration of Conflict of Interests 

No conflicts were declared 

3. Proposed Agenda 

It was proposed that item 14 – Budget & By-law be moved up on the agenda prior 
to item 11 but otherwise the agenda was approved as presented. 

MOVED:   Wendy Murko 
SECONDED:   Marianna Kaminska 
CARRIED 
 

4. Consent Agenda 
 
MOTION: THAT THE CONSENT AGENDA CONSISTING OF: 

 
• Draft Minutes of the December 12, 2019 Council Meeting 
• Executive Committee Report 
• Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report  
• Registration Committee Report 
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• Discipline Committee Report  
• Fitness to Practise Committee Report 
• Client Relations Committee Report 
• Quality Assurance Committee Report 

 
 Moved:  Jan Teevan 
 Seconded: Edan Thomas 
 CARRIED 

 
5. President’s Report 

Tiffany Haidon, Chair introduced her report and presented the highlights of 
current activities and projects. A summary of meetings attended with midwifery 
stakeholders and with committees in ex-officio role was also provided. 

Ms. Haidon welcomed new public member Marianna Kaminska to Council, appointed on 
March 7, 2019 to serve for a for a one-year term. It was proposed that Ms. Kaminska be 
appointed to fill the vacancies on the Fitness to Practise Committee, the Discipline 
Committee and the Quality Assurance Committee. 

MOTION: That the President’s Report to Council be approved as presented and 
that Marianna Kaminska be appointed to the Fitness to Practise, Discipline and 
Quality Assurance Committees. 

 Moved:  John Stasiw 
 Seconded: Lisa Nussey 
 CARRIED 

 
6. Registrar’s Report 

The Registrar, Kelly Dobbin introduced her report and provided an important 
update regarding the College operational budget.   

On March 5, 2019, the day before Council materials were due to be posted 
publicly, the College received verbal communication that the Ministry intends to 
cover projected shortfall of $398,381 of the 2018/2019 fiscal year budget. At the 
time of Ms. Dobbin’s reporting to Council, official written confirmation had not 
yet been received from the Ministry. Council will be reviewing the budget and 
proposed fee & remuneration by-law changes related to membership fees with 
the consideration that the fees promised from the Ministry will be received. 
Should the circumstances change, an emergency Council meeting will be called. 
Financial planning under the direction of the Executive Committee has been 
established for the conditions of both circumstances. It is neither anticipated 
based on the communications provided by the Ministry nor is it expected that the 
Ministry will be providing future operational funding after this fiscal year end. 

Other highlights of Ms. Dobbin’s report included a summary of presentations and 
meetings attended as well as human resource staff updates. 
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Ms. Dobbin then presented the Annual Operational Plan.  A significant change 
highlighted for Council on the work plan was the planned activity concerning 
proposed changes to the Registration Regulation.  During the December 2018 
meeting, the Council approved a one-year extension to the strategic plan. With 
this in mind, the plan for the Registration Regulation now involves intensive 
background and policy research for the year 2019. The information gathered from 
this research will inform the changes to the regulation to be proposed in 2020.   

The Registrar was pleased to announce that the strategic goal of implementing a 
risk-based approach to regulation is in its final stages and that Council will be 
discussing and reviewing under a separate agenda item the Performance 
Measurement Framework to measure the Colleges’ effectiveness as a risk-based 
regulator. 

*Sally Lewis arrived at 9:52 am  

MOTION: That the Registrar’s report and 2019 Operational Plan be approved as 
presented. 

  Moved:  Lilly Martin   
 Seconded: Edan Thomas 
 CARRIED 
 

7. Executive Committee Report 

Tiffany Haidon, Chair introduced the Executive Committee report and gave a 
summary of the highlights.  

Two items were approved by the Committee and brought forward for Council’s 
information. They include a new financial statement template for financial 
reporting and the Q3 statement of operations.  Council will be reviewing the 
budget presented on the new template as separate agenda item. 

Ms. Haidon provided the Council with additional details regarding the Committee’s 
decision to provide a letter to the Ministry in support of the legislative changes being 
proposed by the College of Nurses as part of their Governance Vision 2020 initiative. It 
was agreed by the Council that the College of Midwives of Ontario has similar goals and 
has already implemented many of the same strategies. However, some of the changes 
being proposed will be challenging for smaller Colleges, including the College of 
Midwives, to meet some of the responsibilities. Particularly, the proposal that health 
regulatory colleges be responsible for bearing the cost of appointing and providing 
compensation for their own public appointments. The letter being drafted by the Registrar 
will include these considerations. 

Carolyn Doornekamp, Director of Operation provided a summary of the Q3 
Statement of Operations.   

Ms. Doornekamp also presented the proposed revisions to the Governance Policy, 
Governance Process #6 Confidentiality and Disclosure of College Information.  
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The revisions incorporate details to align with the Information Security Policy 
that was approved by Council in December. There were some minor changes 
made to the policy based on feedback from Council members to provide 
additional clarity and definitions. 

MOTION:  That the Executive Committee report be approved as presented, and 
that the revisions to the Governance Policy, Governance Process # 6 
Confidentiality and Information Security policy be approved as presented during 
the meeting. 

 Moved:  Jan Teevan 
 Seconded: John Stasiw 
 CARRIED 

 

8. Governance Education Modules 

Council was ahead of time scheduled on agenda. In the interest of time, Council agreed 
to move item 13 - Governance Education Modules up for attention. 

Zahra Grant, Governance Coordinator gave a descriptive overview of the 
Governance Education Modules, an online educational training program 
developed for individuals seeking appointment to Council or a committee.  The 
modules will be publicly accessible through the College’s website and required as 
an eligibility requirement in accordance to College by-laws.  The Council had an 
opportunity to pilot the modules during the March 19, 2019 training day and 
provided their feedback and recommendations.   

Ms. Grant provided summary of the feedback received and the proposed revisions 
that will be incorporated into the modules based on Council’s feedback during the 
pilot. A timeline for planned implementation with this year’s Professional 
election cycle was provided. Completion of the modules will be required in order 
to be eligible for election to the Council or appointment to a committee. Public 
members appointed by the government will not be required to complete the 
modules but will be provided to these members as part of the orientation process.  

MOTION: That the Governance Education Module training program be approved 
with the revisions discussed. 

 Moved:  Wendy Murko 
 Seconded:  John Stasiw 

CARRIED 
 

9. IN CAMERA 

MOTION: That the public be excluded from the meeting pursuant to clause 7.2(b) 
of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 
1991  in that financial or personal or other matters may be disclosed of such a 
nature that the harm created by the disclosure would outweigh the desirability of 
adhering to the principle that meetings be open to the public at 12:17 pm.  

 Moved:  Jan Teevan 
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 Seconded: Sally Lewis 
 CARRIED 
 
 9b) MOTION: That the Council move out of in-camera at 12:30 pm. 
 
 Moved:  Lisa Nussey  
 Seconded: Lilly Martin 
 CARRIED 
 

10. Pre-Audit Presentation 

Blair McKenzie, of Hilborn the College’s External Financial Auditor, came to 
present pre-audit information regarding engagement with the College for the 
2018/2019 fiscal year audit. The goal of the audit is to provide credibility to the 
College’s financial statements developed by the management team as completely 
and accurately recorded, showing no material errors in excess of $5,000. 

Mr. McKenzie provided Council with a general overview of the audit process, how 
it is conducted and the phases of the audit cycle.  

Council was notified that there is a new format to the report they would be 
receiving this year. The report this year will be longer in length with the opinion 
of the audit now clearly stated at the beginning of report. 

11. Budget & Fee Remuneration By-law 

Director of Operations, Carolyn Doornekamp provided a summary of the current 
financial position of the College.  The budget presented to Council was developed 
with the assumption that an operational grant from the Ministry will be received 
to cover projected shortfall of $398,381 in budget for the 2018/2019 fiscal year. 
The College does not expect or anticipate receiving any future operational 
funding from the Ministry. 

The College had addressed the loss of operational funding at its Council meeting 
in December. It was decided then that a combination of increasing membership 
fees, using net assets, and finding additional efficiencies at the College would 
allow the College to continue its work and seamlessly deliver on its mandate.  
 
In February and March 2019, the Executive Committee met to discuss the 
best course of action in regard to membership fees and the upcoming 2019-20 
budget. The proposed budget is based on their discussions and decisions.  

The Executive proposes operating on a deficit budget using net assets until the 
2022/2023 fiscal year when projected finances are expected to break even.  The 
funding anticipated for 2018-19 from the Ministry acts as a mitigating factor 
allowing the College to lower its initial projections regarding membership fee 
increases.  
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In the discussions around membership fees being raised and who it would be 
applicable to, the Council agreed on the recommendation by the Executive 
Committee that raising Inactive class fee from its current amount would 
disproportionality affect Inactive members as they are not earning a midwifery 
income. 

Ms. Doornekamp, then guided Council through the proposed budget, highlighting 
key areas on the new template. 

MOTION: That the proposed changes to the Fee & Remuneration By-law be approved for 
public circulation and consultation and that the proposed budget be approved as 
presented. 
 

 Moved:  Lilly Martin 
 Seconded: Wendy Murko 
 CARRIED 
 

12. Performance Measurement Framework 

Marina Solakhyan, Director of Regulatory affairs introduced the Performance 
Measurement Framework to Council for discussion.  Ms. Solakhyan provided an 
overview of the accountabilities of the College, explaining that there exists a 
robust framework for external scrutiny of its activities but that the overall 
performance evaluation of RHPA colleges is not legislatively mandated or 
regularly performed by any known regulators in Ontario. This type of framework 
does exist and is used by regulators in other jurisdictions.  

The challenge for many health profession regulators is that many of the intended 
outcomes of regulatory management is delivered by people, the practitioners. 
Unlike the regulation of substances or material goods, the human element makes 
performance measurement unpredictable and hard to measure effectively. 

The skeleton framework presented to Council was developed in consideration of 
all the regulatory powers of the College. Language was carefully chosen to make 
sure measurements avoid any reference to health outcomes as this is not within 
the College’s mandate. The framework proposes using four domains: Regulatory 
Policy; Suitability to Practise; Openness and Accountability; and Good 
Governance.  These four broadly named categories will be comprised of a number 
of performance standards to form the basis of the measurement framework. 

Clarification on how the framework would differ from the oversight of the 
Ministry was asked by members of the Council. During the December 2018 
meeting of the Council, representatives of the Regulatory Oversight and 
Performance Unit of the Ministry presented to Council on the Ministry’s plan to 
implement a regulatory oversight and measurement framework.  Ms. Solakhyan 
advised that the Ministry framework is broader than the framework being 
proposed for College purposes, although similar in the sense they are both based 
on principles of good regulation. There are still outstanding questions as to what 
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the Ministry will require, but hopeful that the performance measurement 
framework being proposed would will be helpful in meeting the requirements of 
the Ministry. 

13. New Registrant Policy 

Edan Thomas, Chair of the Registration Committee introduced the New 
Registrants Policy and the changes being proposed. The new policy adds 
clarifications and definitions to describe in greater detail the requirements set out 
in the regulation to help in its administration.  Minor changes were also proposed 
to remove redundant language and to ensure to repetition of other College 
requirements (e.g. quality assurance requirements). 

MOTION: that the proposed New Registrant’s Policy be approved, as presented; 
and that the current New Registrants Policy and Guideline be rescinded. 

Moved:  Maureen Silverman 
Seconded: Lisa Nussey 
CARRIED 
 

14. Transitional Certificate of Registration  

Edan Thomas, Chair of Registration introduced the Transitional certificate of 
registration and its function as a registration class.  In light of changes being 
made to other registration policies (e.g. New Registrants Policy) the Committee 
reviewed the Transitional Certificate of Registration Policy and determined that it 
did not meet the College’s definition of a policy and is not necessary as a 
regulatory tool.  The proposed Transitional Certificate of Registration document 
instead describes the College’s process in a detailed and meaningful way which 
can replace policy.  The Committee is proposing that Council rescind the policy 
effective June 1, 2019. 

MOTION: That the current Transitional Certificate of Registration Policy be 
rescinded effective June 1, 2019. 

 Moved:  Lisa Nussey 
 Seconded: Lilly Martin 
 CARRIED 
 

15. ADJOURNMENT  
 

MOTION: THAT THE MEETING BE ADJOURNED AT 4:00 pm. 
Moved:  Jan Teevan 
Seconded:  Sally Lewis 
CARRIED 
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INQUIRIES, COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS COMMITTEE  
 

ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
APRIL 2018-MARCH 2019 
 
Committee Members 

 

April 2018-December 2018 December 2018-March 2019 
Chair: Wendy Murko, RM  Chair: Wendy Murko, RM 
Professional: Wendy Murko, RM, Edan 
Thomas, RM, Lisa Nussey, RM 

Professional: Wendy Murko, RM, Edan 
Thomas, RM, Lisa Nussey, RM, Lilly 
Martin, RM, Maureen Silverman, RM 

Public: Jennifer Lemon, John Stasiw, Susan 
“Sally” Lewis 

Public: Jennifer Lemon, John Stasiw, 
Susan “Sally” Lewis 

Non-Council: Christi Johnston, RM, Claudette 
Leduc, RM, Heather Brechin, RM  

Non-Council: Christi Johnston, RM, 
Claudette Leduc, RM 

 

  
 
Committee Meetings 
 

• June 20, 2018 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference 
• November 28, 2018 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference 

 

Panel Meetings  
• COIN 287C: for deliberation (teleconference, April 17, 2018) 
• COIN 293RI: for deliberation (email, April 16, 2018) 
• COIN 283C: for deliberation (email, May 2, 2018) 
• COIN 282C: for deliberation (teleconference, June 19, 2018) 
• COIN 289/290C: for deliberation (teleconference, June 29, 2018) 
• COIN 285RI/286RI: for deliberation (teleconference, July 10, 2018) 
• COIN 292C: for deliberation (teleconference, July 18, 2018) 
• COIN 304C/305C: for deliberation (email, August 15, 2018) 
• COIN 283C: for deliberation (teleconference, August 21, 2018) 
• COIN 309RI/310RI: for deliberation (email, August 21, 2018) 
• COIN 312R: for deliberation (email, September 19, 2018) 
• COIN 288RI: for deliberation (teleconference, September 27, 2018) 
• COIN 314R: for deliberation (email, October 21, 2018) 
• COIN 294C/295C.296C: for deliberation (teleconference, October 24, 2018)  
• COIN 306I: for deliberation (email, November 6, 2018) 
• COIN 315R: for deliberation (email, November 17, 2018) 
• COIN 316RI: for deliberation (email, November 20, 2018) 
• COIN 298C/299C: for deliberation (teleconference, November 27, 2018) 
• COIN 303C: for deliberation (teleconference, December 4, 2018) 
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• COIN 311C: for deliberation (teleconference, December 14, 2018) 
• COIN 297C: for deliberation (teleconference, January 9, 2019) 
• COIN 307C/308C: for deliberation (teleconference, January 24, 2019) 
• COIN 313C: for deliberation (teleconference, February 22, 2019) 
• COIN 291RI: for deliberation (teleconference, March 25, 2019) 

 
Trainings  
 

• June 20, 2018 11:45 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference 
At the ICRC meeting on June 20, 2018, College staff provided some guidance on panel 
deliberations, including applying and referencing relevant standards in deliberations. 
College staff also provided additional training on utilizing SharePoint for drafting 
decisions, including troubleshooting tips for common technical issues.  
 

• March 6, 2019 2:00 pm – 4:00 pm, via teleconference 
College staff provided an orientation to new Committee members. The training included 
an overview of the Committee, ICRC tools and operational processes, guidance on 
preparing for panel deliberations, and a tutorial on using SharePoint and privacy 
guidelines. 

 
Items 
 
In the past year, the ICRC completed the following identified items:  
 

• Updated ICRC Procedures Manual and Appendices  
The Committee approved updates to the procedure’s manual. The manual required 
revisions to align with Bill 87, which included documenting the new interim orders and 
withdrawal of complaints procedures. Procedural changes as a result of Bill 87 included 
permitting the Registrar to approve Alternative Dispute Resolutions, withdrawal of 
complaints by complainants where they are in the public interest, and the amendment 
enabling the ICRC to make an interim order prior to a referral to the Discipline or the 
Fitness to Practise Committees.  
 

• Implemented Procedure of Complainants Responding during Investigations  
The Committee implemented the procedure of providing complainants with an 
opportunity to respond to members’ submissions as a best practice in investigations. 
HPARB recommended to Colleges that they provide members’ submissions to 
complainants as doing so can be helpful to investigations. After complainants are given an 
opportunity to respond to any particular aspect of the member’s submission with which 
they disagree, their response is provided to the member for an opportunity to review any 
new information provided by the complainant.  
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• Implemented Policy for Updating Members during Registrar’s Investigations 

The Committee approved the operational policy of updating members during Registrar’s 
Investigations to align with the complaints process. Members will be updated on the 
status of the investigation at 150 days, 210 days and subsequent 30 days after until the 
decision is issued.  
 

• Updated ICRC Risk Assessment Framework  
The ICRC approved revisions to the ICRC Risk Assessment Framework to reflect 
amendments to the College’s General By-Law. Specifically, referrals to the Fitness to 
Practise Committee are now noted on the public register.  
 

• Reviewed Complainant and Member Guides to Complaints 
The ICRC reviewed the newly developed complainant and member guides to complaints. 
The two guides were developed to centralize in an accessible format the information that 
is provided to members and complainants during a complaint investigation. The two 
guides are now posted to the College’s website.  

 
• Implemented Alternative Dispute Resolution Program 

The ICRC approved the implementation of the Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) 
program, the ADR Eligibility Policy and the ADR Facilitator Policy, which were brought 
forward to Council and approved on December 12, 2018. ADR involves a process through 
which the complainant and the member work together with a facilitator to come to a 
resolution that is agreed to by all parties. The ADR program was implemented on April 1, 
2019. Previously, all complaints received by the College were resolved through a referral 
to the ICRC. However, the Health Professions Procedural Code allows for a complaint to also 
be resolved through ADR. The College worked with other Colleges to develop standardized 
policies. 

 
• Revised Oral Cautions Process 

The Committee reviewed the oral caution process and made some decisions to strengthen 
its delivery. Oral cautions are considered one of the most serious dispositions that the 
ICRC can render and is an opportunity for the ICRC to express their views and concerns 
about the member’s practice. The ICRC decided to provide the member with a copy of the 
caution script after it is delivered. The Committee also decided to consider requiring the 
affected member to complete a reflective paper after the caution, as part of a Specified 
Continuing Education or Remediation Program (SCERP). The Committee also decided that 
the current process of not allowing the member to participate orally in the caution will 
remain in place.  
  

• Developed Procedures on Failure to Make a Mandatory Report  
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The Professional Conduct department provided the Committee with information on the 
consequences of failing to make a mandatory report as required under the Health 
Professions Procedural Code. The department identified procedures relating to a failure to 
make a mandatory report as a priority in the College’s Annual Operational Plan. Following 
the Committee meeting, additional information was posted to the website for members 
with respect to the mandatory report requirements, and the consequences for failing to 
make a mandatory report. 
 

• Reviewed Benchmarks for the Duration of Investigations 
Last year, the ICRC approved the implementation of benchmarks and streamlining 
measures to reduce the total duration of investigations. The Professional Conduct 
department conducted a review of the actual duration of investigations against those 
benchmarks to evaluate the effectiveness of these streamlining measures and briefed the 
Committee on the outcome of the review. Due to streamlining efforts the department 
reduced the total average duration of investigations by over 100 days. Tools like the new 
panel schedule, an improved decision drafting and review process, and greater 
collaboration with investigators have helped in these efforts to reduce durations. 
 

• Reviewed Complaints Process Feedback Survey Results  
The Professional Conduct department briefed the Committee on the results of the 
complaints process survey since its implementation. The ICRC approved the 
implementation of a new online complaints survey on November 14, 2017. The response 
rate increased significantly since the implementation of the new survey; it increased to 
56% from the previous 5% response rate. The previous survey was issued by mail and had 
a very low response rate. The new survey is distributed by Survey Monkey and the 
questions are streamlined. The survey evaluates the College’s complaint process on 
timelines, transparency of procedures, public protection, helpful and knowledgeable staff, 
and understandable ICRC decisions and reasons. The department will continue to 
distribute the online survey and monitor the feedback received.  

 
Attachments: 
 
Professional Conduct File Listing Summary for April 1, 2018-March 31, 2019 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Wendy Murko, Chair 
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Professional Conduct File Listing Summary for April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019 

 
Category Total Numbers 
Total Open Cases 
 

36 

Source of Investigation:  
• Complaints 29 
• Registrar’s Investigations 3 
• Mandatory Reports 

 
4 

Total Closed Cases 
 

18 

Decision breakdown:  
• Take no action 5 
• Advice and recommendations 7 
• Specified Continuing Education or 

Remediation Program 
3 

• Oral caution 0 
• Acknowledgment & Undertaking 3 

*Note that one case can have 
multiple outcomes 
 

 

Total Panels 
 

24 

Total Monitored Cases: 20 
• Discipline 0 
• Complaints & Reports 12 
• Fitness to Practise/Incapacity 0 
• HPARB/Judicial Review 

 
8 
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REGISTRATION COMMITTEE  
 

ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
APRIL 2018-MARCH 2019 
 
Committee Members 
 

 

April 2018-December 2018 December 2018-March 2019 
Chair: Isabelle Milot, RM (April 2018 until end 
of term on October 11, 2018) 
Chair: Jennifer Lemon (Interim, October 11, 
2018 – December 13, 2018) 

Chair: Edan Thomas, RM (from 
December 14, 2018) 

Professional: Claire Ramlogan-Salanga, RM; 
Edan Thomas, RM 

Professional: Claire Ramlogan-Salanga, 
RM; Edan Thomas, RM 

Public: Jennifer Lemon, John Stasiw Public: Deirdre Brett, Jennifer Lemon, 
John Stasiw 

Non-Council: Alexandra Nikitakis, RM Non-Council: Isabelle Milot, RM; 
Alexandra Nikitakis, RM 

 

  
 
Committee Meetings 
 
May 25, 2018, 9:30 am – 4:00 pm, in-person, Boardroom, 21 St. Clair Ave E, Suite 303     
July 20, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference 
September 19, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference 
November 16, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference 
March 1, 2019, 1:00 pm – 4:00 pm, via teleconference 
 
Panel Meetings/Hearings  
 
May 18, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference 
June 28, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference  
August 10, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference   
September 7, 2018, 9:30 am – 10:30 pm, via teleconference  
October 18, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference  
November 8, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference    
December 6, 2018, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference    
January 17, 2019, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference 
February 21, 2019, 9:30 am – 12:30 pm, via teleconference   
March 21, 2019, 10:00 am – 1:00 pm, via teleconference  
March 28, 2019, 11:00 am – 12:00 pm, via teleconference   
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Trainings  
 
May 25, 2018, 9:50 am – 11:15 am, in-person, Boardroom, 21 St. Clair Ave E, Suite 303, 
Deliberation, Decision Making and Drafting Presentation by Shivani Sharma, Policy Analyst 
(Internal)  

 
Ms. Sharma provided the Registration Committee with an in-depth presentation on 
strengthening the deliberation, decision making and drafting processes of the Registration 
Committee. The presentation focused on consistency, fairness, objectivity and drafting well-
articulated, defensible decisions. Anonymized examples of previous registration decisions were 
presented and analyzed for tips on how to improve the drafting process.  
  
 
Items 
 
In the past year, the Registration Committee completed the following identified items: 
 
CRIMINAL RECORD SCREENING POLICY  

 
The committee reviewed and approved a new Criminal Record Screening Policy that was 
approved by Council in October 2018 and was implemented in April 2019. The policy requires 
applicants, and members when requested, to submit the results of a vulnerable sector check as 
part of their application to the College and to assist the College in determining suitability to 
practise. In conjunction, a Good Character Guide, outlining the “good character” requirements 
and assessment processes, was approved and posted to the College’s website. 
 
POLICY ON CONTINUING COMPETENCIES  

 
On the recommendation of the Registration Committee, the Executive Committee rescinded the 
Policy on Continuing Competencies and it has been replaced by the Continuing Competency 
Requirements and Approved Courses information, developed and approved by the Registration 
Committee. The new approved course list came in to effect October 1, 2018.  The Committee 
agreed that members would only have to be in line with the new requirements when they are 
next due to meet a requirement. The new course list and information was published on our 
website. 
 
To maintain a current list of approved courses, and as a way to review any submissions for a new 
course, the Registration Committee implemented an annual review of the course list, including a 
process to consider any applications for new courses to be added to the list.  
 
RISK ASSESSMENT TOOL FOR DETERMINING REQUALIFICATION PROGRAMS 

  
The Registration Committee Risk Assessment Tool for Determining Requalification Programs has 
been used in panel deliberations for matters received since November 2017. Having used the tool 
for some time, the Committee updated the tool, and it is now posted to the College’s website. 
This tool is intended to address transparency, efficient and consistent decision making, and to 
help with meaningful trends analysis. 
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ACTIVE PRACTICE REQUIREMENTS  
 
The Committee made a recommendation to Council to rescind the Policy on Active Practice 
Requirements (APR) and introduced a new Active Practice Requirements document that helps to 
ensure that the College is administering the current Registration Regulation effectively and has 
an effective process to support APR shortfall decisions. The new process and information came 
into effect on November 1, 2018. 

 
CLASS CHANGE PROCESS 

 
The Registration Committee reviewed the inactive to general class change provisions under the 
Registration Regulation and amended the class change process to streamline the administration 
of these provisions and to clarify the requirements. The recommended policy changes were 
approved by Council in June 2018.  
 
APPROVAL OF SUPERVISORS 

 
A review of the Supervisor Criteria and Agreement documents was carried out. The Registration 
Committee approved revised Criteria for Supervisor Approval. These criteria are used to 
determine if a proposed midwife may act as a supervisor for an applicant/member who is eligible 
to practise under a Supervised Practice certificate of registration. In October 2018, the 
Registration Committee recommended to Council that the Policy on Criteria for Approval of 
Supervisors be rescinded. The Agreement to Act as Supervising Midwife form was replaced with 
an updated Agreement and Conflict of Interest Declaration. 

 
OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER (OFC) ASSESSMENT REPORT 

 
The 2016-2018 Registration Practices Assessment Report was finalized in June 2018 and is posted 
to the College’s website as is required by the Office of the Fairness Commissioner.  The report 
was finalized without recommendations and only areas for ongoing improvement. 
 
DATA STRATEGY – REGISTRATION COMMITTEE REPORTS TO COUNCIL 

 
Currently all statutory committees submit reports of their activities to Council. The Committee 
approved a new format for the committee quarterly and annual reports. The implementation 
date will be determined once all parts of the data strategy have been developed and approved 
either internally or by appropriate statutory committees.
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NEW REGISTRANTS POLICY 
 
A new New Registrants Policy, with an implementation date of June 1, 2019, was approved by 
Council in March 2019. The new policy reinforces the new registrant conditions as outlined in the 
Registration Regulation, which sets out the conditions imposed on a registrant’s certificate of 
registration in their first year of practice after receiving their initial certificate of registration in 
the General class. The new policy clarifies the definition of an established practice and how new 
registrants may meet the requirement of attending 30 births as a primary midwife and 30 births 
in the role of second midwife. The previous New Registrants Policy and Guidelines were 
rescinded in March 2019.  
 
TRANSITIONAL CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION 
 
A number of changes were made to the Transitional certificate of registration information and 
forms to align with other updated registration policies (e.g. New Registrants Policy).  The new 
Transitional Certificate of Registration document describes the College’s process in more detail 
and clarifies what appropriate supervision and coordination of supervision means. In March, the 
Transitional Certificate of Registration Policy was brought forward to Council and was rescinded. 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Membership Statistics as of March 31, 2019 
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Edan Thomas, Chair 
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College Membership Stats, as of March 31st, 2019 
 
 

   
949 Registered Midwives consisting of:  

   
707 General  
60 General with New Registrant Conditions  
11 Supervised Practice  
0 Transitional  

171 Inactive  
   
   
   
   

Membership Changes During the Fiscal period April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019 
 
 

   
75 New Registrations   

   
4 Suspended for Non-payment of Fees  
1 Revoked for Non-payment of Fees  
1 Revoked for failure to meet registration requirements  

33 Resignations  
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QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMITTEE  
 

ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
APRIL 2018-MARCH 2019 
 
Committee Members 
 

 

April 2018-December 2018 December 2018-March 2019 
Chair: Jan Teevan, RM Chair: Lilly Martin, RM 
Professional: Lilly Martin, RM; Claire 
Ramlogan-Salanga, RM; Isabelle Milot, RM 
(term end Oct. 2018) 

Professional: Claire Ramlogan-Salanga, 
RM; Jan Teevan, RM; Maureen 
Silverman, RM 

Public: Susan ‘Sally’ Lewis; Dierdre Brett Public: Susan ‘Sally’ Lewis; Marianna 
Kaminska 

Non-Council: none Non-Council: none 

 

  
 
Committee Meetings 
 
May 4, 2018 – 9:30 to 3:30 pm, CMO Boardroom 
September 28, 2018 – 9:30 am to 12:30 pm, Teleconference 
November 21, 2018 – 9:30 am to 12:30 pm, Teleconference 
 
Panel Meetings/Hearings  
 
November 28, 2018 – 9:30 am to 11:30 am by Teleconference 
 
Trainings  
 
May 4, 2018 – 9:40 am to 11:20 am, CMO Boardroom 
QAC Orientation and training provided to committee members during morning session of 
scheduled meeting. 
 
November 2, 2018 – 9:30 t0 5:00 pm, CMO Boardroom  
Assessor Training, by Sid Ali and Pina Pejovic 
 
March 25, 2019 – 10 am to 12:00 pm Assessor Training by videoconference 
 
March 29, 2019 – 10 am to 12:00 pm Assessor Training by videoconference 
 
Items 
 
In the 2018/2019 fiscal year the QAC accomplished the following activities: 
 

• Peer and Practice Assessment Program focus groups – Held May 24, 2018 (Two sessions: 
one morning & one afternoon). The purpose of the focus group was to get input from the 
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participating midwives regarding midwifery competencies and the best ways to assess 
competencies. 
 

• The Guideline on Managing Personal & Practice Health was approved. The purpose of the 
guideline is to assist midwives in recognizing sources of stress in the profession and 
provides suggestions on how to manage personal health and wellness. It has been posted 
to the College website for reference 

• The Committee submitted the Waiver Policy - Standards which was approved by 
Council in June.  Changes to the Alternate Practice Arrangements Program were 
made to align with the June 1, 2018 implementation of the Professional Standards 
approved by Council.   

• The Healthcare Consent Guide was approved in order to provide members with guidance 
on Informed Consent. 
 

• The Quality Assurance Program Guide was approved for submission to the Ministry to be 
implemented when the proposed Quality Assurance Regulation is approved. The guide was 
developed to provide members with information that is needed to comply with the QAP. 
 

• The Fetal Health Surveillance Policy was recommended for rescinding as it is already 
embedded in the QAP as a continuing education and professional development 
requirement. 

 
 
Attachments: 
 
None. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

Lilly Martin, Chair 
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DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE  
 

ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
APRIL 2018-MARCH 2019 
 

Committee Members 
 

 

April 2018-December 2018 December 2018-March 2019 
Chair: Lilly Martin, RM Chair: John Stasiw  
Professional: Lilly Martin, RM, Jan Teevan, RM, 
Claudette Leduc, RM  

Professional: Lilly Martin, RM, Jan 
Teevan, RM, Wendy Murko, RM, Lisa 
Nussey, RM, Edan Thomas, RM, Claire 
Ramlogan-Salanga, RM, Maureen 
Silverman, RM 

Public: Susan “Sally” Lewis, John Stasiw, 
Deirdre Brett, Jennifer Lemon, Rochelle 
Dickenson 

Public: Deirdre Brett, Jennifer Lemon, 
John Stasiw, Susan “Sally” Lewis 

Non-Council: Claudette Leduc, RM  Non-Council: None  

 

 

Committee Meetings 
 

• November 30, 2018 9:30 am – 10:30 am, via teleconference 
 

Panel Meetings/Hearings  
 
None. 
 
Training 
 

• June 12, 2018 9:30 am – 4:00 pm, Boardroom, 21 St. Clair Ave E, Suite 303 
 

The Discipline Committee training occurred on June 12, 2018, and was presented by the 
committee’s independent legal counsel, Luisa Ritacca from Stockwoods LLP. The workshop 
provided committee members with an overview of the legislative context, discipline 
processes, hearing procedures and processes, role of the parties, introduction to basic 
procedures, note taking, and deliberations and reasons writing. In addition, committee 
members had an opportunity for experiencial learning through role play exercises.  

 

Items 
 
In the past year, the Discipline Committee completed the following identified items: 
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• Revised Rules of Procedures   

The Committee approved the revised Discipline Rules of Procedures. The Rules of 
Procedures required revisions to align with recent amendments to the Regulated Health 
Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA). The Federation of Health Regulatory Colleges of Ontario 
(FHRCO) consulted with Richard Steinecke, legal counsel to SML, to review the Rules of 
Procedures to assist Colleges in their implementation of Bill 87. Richard Steinecke 
conducted a thorough review of the Rules of Procedures and drafted updates and 
approaches to various issues. The revised Rules of Procedures were posted to the College’s 
website. 
 

• Data Strategy 
This strategy involves tracking the College’s performance as a regulator through targeted 
data collection, and identifying the areas of greatest risk. The Committee approved the 
corresponding quarterly and annual Discipline Committee reports to Council. The main 
changes to the reports include a breakdown of contested versus uncontested hearings, the 
specific action or disposition taken by the Committee, the number of days from referral to 
hearing, the number of hearing days, and the results of appeals. These new reports will be 
implemented once all the parts of the data strategy are in place.  

 
 

Attachments: 
 
None. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
John Stasiw, Chair 
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FITNESS TO PRACTISE COMMITTEE  
 

ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
APRIL 2018-MARCH 2019 
 

Committee Members 
 

 

April 2018-December 2018 December 2018-March 2019 
Chair: Lilly Martin, RM Chair: John Stasiw  
Professional: Lilly Martin, RM, Jan Teevan, RM, 
Claudette Leduc, RM  

Professional: Lilly Martin, RM, Jan 
Teevan, RM, Wendy Murko, RM, Lisa 
Nussey, RM, Edan Thomas, RM, Claire 
Ramlogan-Salanga, RM, Maureen 
Silverman, RM 

Public: Susan “Sally” Lewis, John Stasiw, 
Deirdre Brett, Jennifer Lemon, Rochelle 
Dickenson 

Public: Deirdre Brett, Jennifer Lemon, 
John Stasiw, Susan “Sally” Lewis 

Non-Council: Claudette Leduc, RM Non-Council: None 

 

  

Committee Meetings 
 

• November 30, 2018 10:30 am – 11:00 am, via teleconference 
 

Panel Meetings/Hearings  
 
None. 
 
Training 
 
None. 
 

Item 
 
In the past year, the Fitness to Practise Committee completed the following identified item: 
 

• Data Strategy 
This strategy involves tracking the College’s performance as a regulator through targeted 
data collection, and identifying the areas of greatest risk. The Committee approved the 
corresponding quarterly and annual Fitness to Practise Committee reports to Council. The 
main changes to the reports include the number of findings, the specific action taken by 
the Committee, the number of days from referral to hearing, the number of hearing days, 
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and the results of appeals. These new reports will be implemented once all the parts of the 
data strategy are in place.  
 

Attachments: 
 
None. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
John Stasiw, Chair 
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CLIENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE  
 

ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
APRIL 2018-MARCH 2019 
 
Committee Members 
 

 

April 2018-December 2018 December 2018-March 2019 
Chair: Deirdre Brett Chair: Deirdre Brett 
Professional:  Professional: Lisa Nussey, RM 
Public: Rochelle Dickenson, Deirdre Brett Public: John Stasiw, Deirdre Brett 
Non-Council: Christi Johnston, RM Amy 
McGee, RM 

Non-Council: Amy McGee, RM 

 

  
 
Committee Meetings 
 
April 10, 2018, 9:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m., Teleconference Meeting 
October 2, 2018, 10:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m., Teleconference Meeting 
 
Panel Meetings/Hearings  
 
N/A 
 
Trainings  
 
N/A 
 
Items 
 
The Committee approved the following: 
 

• The Guide on Appropriate Professional Behaviour with Clients – this guide assists 
midwives in maintaining appropriate professional boundaries with clients 
 

• The Guideline on Ending the Midwife Client Relationship – this guideline describes 
situations in which it is appropriate for the midwife-client relationship to end and the 
corresponding obligations of a midwife in such situations 
 

• Sexual Abuse Complaints Guide – this guide assists complainants in understanding the 
complaints and discipline process for matters involving sexual abuse allegations 
 

• Guide on Funding for Therapy & Counselling – this guide provides information on the 
process of obtaining funding for therapy and counselling for individuals who were, or may 
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have been, sexually abused by a member of the College while they were a client 
 

• Funding Application Forms A-D – these are administrative forms that must be completed 
and submitted to the Client Relations Committee for its consideration in granting funding 
for therapy and counselling 

 
The Committee also decided on an application for funding for therapy and counselling.  
 
Attachments: 
 
N/A 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Deirdre Brett, Chair 
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
 

ANNUAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
APRIL 2018-MARCH 2019 
 
Committee Members 
 

 

April 2018-October 2018 October 2018-March 2019 

Chair: Tiffany Haidon, RM  Chair: Tiffany Haidon, RM  

Professional:  Isabelle Milot, RM; Lilly Martin, 
RM  

Professional: Jan Teevan, RM;  Claire 
Ramlogan-Salanga, RM 

Public: Rochelle Dickenson; Jennifer Lemon Public: Jennifer Lemon; Susan ‘Sally’ 
Lewis 

 

  
Committee Meetings 
 
May 16, 2018 | 9:30am – 5:00pm, CMO Boardroom 
September 12, 2018 | 9:30am – 5:00pm, CMO Boardroom 
November 14, 2018 | 9:30am – 5:00pm, CMO Boardroom 
February 20, 2019 | 9:ooam – 12:30pm, Videoconference 
March 4, 2019 | 10:00am – 12:30pm – Teleconference 
March 8, 2019 | 11:00am – 1:00pm- Teleconference 
 
 
Panel Meetings/Hearings  
 
N/A 
 
Trainings  
 
May 16, 2018 - Registrar Performance Consultation  
The committee participated in a workshop-style learning consult with Governance Solutions 
who led the committee through the objectives, expectations and types of tools that are useful for 
an effective Registrar’s Assessment. 
 
Items 
 

• Financial Statement Monitoring – The committee monitored financial processes; 
reviewed and approved quarterly financial statements. Audited financial statements were 
also approved. 
 

• Sexual Abuse Prevention Policy revisions – The policy was revised to ensure definition of 
the midwife-client relationship aligned with that provided by the Ministry and give clear 
definition to the beginning and end of the midwife-client relationship. 
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• General by-laws - The Committee reviewed revisions to the General by-laws, which were 
submitted and approved by Council in June 2018. 

• Council Evaluation and Committee Composition –The Executive Committee 
reviewed the annual Council evaluations, information gathered was used to 
identify areas for Council education and inform planning for competency 
development and training for Council in the upcoming year. The committee also 
made recommendations to Council for Chair appointment and compositions of 
the College committees, this is based on consideration of the consideration of 
members identified competencies and expressions of interest. 

• Second Birth Attendant Standard – The standard approved by Council March 2018 for 
implementation October 2019 was reviewed by the committee to approve modifications 
that were made to provide additional clarity in response to feedback that had been 
received. 
 

• Continuing Competency Policy – The committee approved rescinding of the Continuing 
Competency Policy as recommended by the Registration committee who have approved an 
alternative process for managing how members meet their Continuing Competency 
requirements.        
 

• Compassionate Consideration Policy – A policy that applied to all request made by 
members for extensions for compassionate reasons to deadlines for payment or 
exemptions from payment related to registration renewal. The committee approved 
rescinding of the policy as the policy no longer meets the College’s definition of a Council 
approved policy. 
 

• Audit Cost Recovery Policy – A policy that outlines the way in which members will be 
invoiced for costs associated with audits undertaken as a result of a decision made by a 
panel or a Committee of the College. The committee approved rescinding the policy as the 
policy no longer meets the College’s definition of a Council approved policy. 
 

• Implementation Plan: Public Non-Council Members – The committee reviewed and made 
recommendations to the implementation plan for the recruitment and appointment of 
public non-Council committee members. 
 

• Governance Manual – The committee reviewed and provided feedback to the Governance 
Manual, a document that would serve as reference document and learning aid to the 
College’s Governance Education Modules, the College’s training program that will be used 
as an eligibility requirement for professional members joining Council, orientation for 
public appointees and required training of all non-Council committee members. 
 

• CMO Support of CNO Vision 2020 - The committee approved the submission a letter to 
the Ministry acknowledging the alignment of College of Midwives of Ontario regulatory 
strategies with the direction of College of Nurses Governance Vision 2020. 
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• Governance Policy GP#6 – The committee approved revisions to Governance Policy GP #6 
which was revised to align with the Information Security Policy approved by Council 
December 2018. 
 

• New Financial Statement Template – The committee approved a new template for the 
presentation of financial statements.  Loss of Ministry funding provided an opportunity to 
redesign quarterly statements and budgets to better align with standard financial 
statement presentations and categorize expenses more appropriately. All financial 
statements documented by the College will be presented to Council on this template. 
 

• Budget & Membership fee recommendations – The committee reviewed the budget upon 
announcement of loss of funding from the Ministry, which was reviewed again when the 
Ministry agreed to cover the 2018-19 projected shortfall.  Recommendations on the 
budget and setting of membership fees effective October 1, 2019 at $2550 were made to 
Council. 

 
Attachments: 
 
None. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Tiffany Haidon, Chair 
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The College of Midwives of Ontario regulates midwifery 
in the public interest, and ensures that midwives in 
Ontario are qualified, skilled, and competent to practise. 

Ontarians can be confident that the College makes 
decisions in their best interest. 
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Message from the 
President

The College registered its first midwives on January 1, 1994, making this year the 25th 
anniversary of regulating the profession in the public interest. I have been extremely fortunate 
to be able to be a part of this milestone as your President and have been honoured to spend nine 
years on Council, two of which as President at the College. 

We’ve accomplished so much in this time, and none of this work could have been possible 
without our current and past Council and Committee members. Our Council and Committee 
members know the importance of their roles and have governed the College with care. They 
have been hard at work to accomplish our strategic objectives, as evidenced in this report, and 
have set the College up for future success. 

It’s been an absolute honour and pleasure to serve on Council as President these past two years. 
The College has set itself up well for the coming years, and I have high hopes for the future of 
midwifery regulation. I look forward to seeing the College and Council evolve even further and 
will be cheering them on for their continued success. 

Sincerely,

Tiffany Haidon
President
College of Midwives of Ontario
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Message from the 
Registrar and CEO

I’d like to begin this report by thanking our staff for their dedication over the past year. Together, 
we have accomplished great work and have reached many milestones set out in our operational 
plan. I look forward to another year of delivering on the strategic priorities and participating in 
the planning of our next strategic plan.

It’s been a pleasure this past year to work collaboratively with Council and our Committees 
to achieve strategic goals and effectively regulate the profession in the public interest. We’ve 
worked on supporting our members’ regulatory compliance with the development of new 
guides and policies, streamlining our registration processes, and increasing transparency of 
our own work as a demonstration of accountability to members, stakeholders and the public. 

We’ve also spent this past year working closely with our stakeholders at the Ministry of Health 
and Long-Term Care towards modernizing midwifery legislation and regulations. Thank you to 
all stakeholders with whom we meet regularly and who also play an important role in ensuring 
the safe delivery of midwifery care in Ontario.  

I’m thrilled to be a part of the 25th year of midwifery regulation in Ontario. I joined the College 
as a new member in 1996, and since then have been fortunate to work on Council, and on staff, 
among so many others who care deeply about this profession.  Collectively we have a lot to be 
proud of, and I feel privileged to help launch the College toward its next 25 years of success. 
Thank you for the opportunity to do so.

Regards,

Kelly Dobbin
Registrar
College of Midwives of Ontario
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We allocate resources proportionate to the risk posed to our regulatory outcomes.
Mission Regulating midwifery in the 

public interest

Vision Inspiring trust and confidence 
in midwifery by leading in           
regulatory excellence

&
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We allocate resources proportionate to the risk posed to our regulatory outcomes.

Innovation          We translate opportunity into organizational value

Accountability    We make fair, consistent and defensible decisions

Transparency     We act openly to enhance accountability

Integrity               We act with respect, fairness and honesty

Proportionality   We allocate resources proportionate to the risk         	
	  			     posed to our regulatory outcomes
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Our work at the College is overseen by Council who sets the strategic direction and 
ensures long-term success. In accordance with the Midwifery Act, 1991, Council is 
composed of at least seven and no more than eight elected professional members 
and at least five and no more than seven appointed public members. Their duty is to 
oversee the administration of the Regulated Health Professionals Act, 1991 (RHPA), the 
Midwifery Act, 1991 and related regulations. They set the College’s strategic direction, 
oversee the operational plan, approve annual budgets, monitor financial statements, 
and approve necessary regulatory tools including regulations, by-laws, policies and 
standards.

In the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the College Council met five times, with meetings held on: June 
13, 2018, October 10 and 11, 2018, December 12, 2018, and March 20, 2019. Members and the 
public can find our agendas and meeting materials on our website. We advise midwives and 
members of the public when we post our meeting materials online and welcome anyone 
interested to observe our meetings in person. 

 Council 

Page 41 of 142



9

Tiffany Haidon, RM 
President 
Professional Member

Lilly Martin, RM
Professional Member

Jennifer Lemon
Vice-President
Public Member

Deirdre Brett
Public Member

Rochelle Ivri
Public Member

Susan (Sally) Lewis
Public Member 

Isabelle Milot, RM
Professional Member 
Term ended October 
2018

Wendy Murko, RM
Professional Member

Karen Wood 
Public Member 
(Appointed from 
December 2018 - 
January 2019.)John Stasiw

Public Member
Jan Teevan, RM
Professional Member

Lisa Nussey, RM
Professional Member

Claire Ramlogan-
Salanga, RM
Vice-President 
Professional Member

Edan Thomas, RM
Professional Member

Marianna Kaminska
Public Member

Maureen 
Silverman, RM
Professional Member 

Meet Your Council
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 Committees

Non-Council Appointed Committee 
Members, April 2018 - December 2018
Heather Brechin, RM
Christi Johnston, RM
Claudette Leduc, RM
Amy McGee, RM
Alexandra Nikitakis, RM

Non-Council Appointed Committee 
Members, December 2018 - March 2019
Christi Johnston, RM
Claudette Leduc, RM
Amy McGee, RM
Isabelle Milot, RM
Alexandra Nikitakis, RM

In addition to our Council, we have seven statutory committees that perform the functions that 
are assigned to them under the authority of the RHPA. In addition to their statutory functions, 
Committees operating under the Council are assigned to undertake work on behalf of Council 
and to reinforce the wholeness of Council’s job. Each committee reports to Council, and these 
reports are public and are included in the Council meeting materials. Non-council committee 
members are appointed for 1-year terms to serve on statutory committees.
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Executive Committee
The Executive Committee conducts business 
between Council meetings to ensure the 
objectives of the College are being met and to 
contribute to the development of governance 
excellence by the Council. The Executive 
Committee also has all the powers of the 
Council with respect to any matter that, in 
the Committee’s opinion, requires immediate 
attention, other than the power to make, amend 
or revoke a regulation or by-law. Additionally, 
the Executive Committee performs audit, 
finance and risk oversight responsibilities, and 
performs annual evaluations of the Registrar.

Registration Committee

The Registration Committee is mandated 
to ensure protection of the public by 
recommending policies to Council, ensuring 
that registration policies and processes meet 
the standards of good regulation, and are 
transparent, objective, fair, and impartial.

The Registration Committee also considers 
referrals of applications for initial registration, 
re-registration and class changes that do 
not meet the minimum requirements set 
out in the Registration Regulation. The 
Registration Committee has the power to 
direct the Registrar to issue, revoke, refuse or 
apply terms, conditions and limitations to an 
application for registration. 

Quality   Assurance 
Committee
The Quality Assurance Committee is mandated 
to ensure protection of the public interest by 
administering the Quality Assurance Program 
(QAP), including the peer and practice 
assessment program. The QAP is designed 
to assure that knowledge and professional 
judgment of midwives remains current 
throughout their professional careers and that 
they continue to provide safe and ethical care 
to their clients. 

The Quality Assurance Committee also 
develops standards of practice to set minimum 
requirements regarding midwifery practice 
and conduct, and other guiding documents to 
help midwives achieve the best outcomes for 
their clients and the public.

Inquiries, Complaints, and 
Reports Committee

The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports 
Committee investigates public complaints and 
information that the College receives through 
mandatory and permissive reports regarding 
concerns related to professional misconduct, 
incompetence, or incapacity. Based on this, 
the Committee decides whether the concerns 
warrant a referral to the Discipline or Fitness 
to Practise Committees, or if some other action 
would better serve the public interest.

Discipline Committee

When a midwife has been referred by the 
Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee 
because of the serious nature of the alleged 
professional misconduct and/or incompetence, 
the Discipline Committee holds a hearing.

Discipline hearing panels are appointed from 
the committee and must be composed of at 
least two public members of the Council of the 
College and at least one professional member 
of Council. The panel has a designated 
chairperson and is responsible for writing its 
own decision.
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Fitness to Practise 
Committee

The Fitness to Practise Committee considers 
cases of incapacity that are referred by the 
Inquiries, Complaints, and Reports Committee. 
The Fitness to Practice Committee consists 
of members of the public and the profession; 
Fitness to Practice panels are appointed from 
the committee and must be composed of at least 
one public member. 

Fitness to Practise hearings are closed to the 
public unless the midwife who is alleged to 
be incapacitated requests that it be open to 
the public. The hearing requires the Fitness to 
Practise panel to make a finding on whether a 
person is incapacitated and if so, what order 
would be most appropriate.

Client Relations Committee

The Client Relations Committee is mandated 
to ensure protection of the public interest by 
developing the policies and procedures of the 
College to prevent sexual abuse of clients by 
members and to define appropriate professional 
relations between the members of the College 
and their clients.

In addition, the Client Relations Committee 
administers the funding program for therapy 
and counselling for clients who make a 
complaint to the College about sexual abuse 
by members or are the subject of a Registrar’s 
investigation involving allegations of sexual 
abuse by members, at the time the allegation of 
sexual abuse is made. 
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Celebrating 25 Years of Regulating 

in the Public Interest

We’re thrilled to be marking the 25th year of midwifery regulation in the public 
interest and are proud of all the achievements that have been accomplished 
to date.

Please go to the next page to see highlights from the past 25 years!

Page 46 of 142



14

1985
Demonstrations calling                         

for regulation of midwifery
(source: CBC Archives, CBLT Newshour,        

July 16, 1985)
1990
Interim Regulatory Council on  Mid-
wifery established

November 21, 1991 
Midwifery Act, 1991 and                       

Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 
passed into law 1992

Midwifery baccalaureate program    
announced at Ontario universities
(source: The Globe and Mail)

1992
Federation of Health Regulatory     

Colleges of Ontario founded

1993
Transitional Council of the                
College of Midwives appointed             
by the government

December 31, 1993
Midwifery Act, 1991 and                          

Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991             
proclaimed

January 1, 1994
College of Midwives established 
along with 20 other colleges
(source: Globe and Mail, January 1, 1994)    

January 28, 1994
First baby born to midwives                 

in a hospital in Ontario
(Source: Health Times, February 1994)

1995
College's first Sexual Abuse              
Prevention Plan implemented

1997
100th midwife registered                        

at the College

1999
First Quality Assurance Program   

completed

2000
Canadian Midwifery Regulators   

Council established

September 26-29, 2000
College held its first Discipline hearing

International Midwifery   
Pre-registration        
Program begins
2002
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January 22, 2003
College has its first Fitness to 
Practise Committee Hearing

2006
Creation of the Canadian              
Midwifery Registration Exam

2007
500th midwife registered

June 4, 2009
College launches its 
online public register

2009
Online registration begins

December 15, 2009
Midwifery scope expansion

April 1, 2013
Two additional health                       
colleges established

2014
1,000th midwife registered

2014
Toronto and Ottawa                           

Birth Centres opened

Three additional health                                    
colleges established
2015

March 20, 2016
College adopts new                          

transparency initiative                        
increasing the information                                              

available on                                                          
its public register

2017
Government passes the                           
Protecting Patients Act

2017
Ontario Health Regulators                     

website launched

2017-2020
Strategic priorities:                              

Modernization of Legislation and 
Regulations,  Implementation of            

Risk-based Regulation and public     
Participation and Engagement

December 31, 2018
25 years of regulation!

Celebrating 25 Years of Regulation
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How We Regulate Effectively

The College is the regulator of midwifery in Ontario. We regulate midwives by ensuring that 
they meet College requirements and standards, and by acting when risks are identified.

In the past year, the College continued to review and refine its approach to regulation and 
simplified its standards of practice, policies and procedures to make sure that the College is 
regulating effectively in the public interest. 

Some of our work is outlined below.

Implementation of Risk-based Regulation

We have continued making changes to our regulations, standards, policies and procedures to 
implement risk-based regulation by the end of 2019. Its successful completion and implementation 
will enable the College to deliver, to its fullest extent, proactive risk-based regulation in the public 
interest; regulation that is effective, targeted, proportionate, and transparent. Risk-based regulation 
means that the day-to-day activities of the College are guided by focusing activity and attention 
on issues and potential risks that pose the greatest threat to clients and members of the public. The 
College does not seek to eliminate risk completely, but to make the best use of its limited resources 
to proactively reduce the risks posed to an acceptable level. Risk-based regulation assumes that 
the quality of care received by midwifery clients is the result of a wide array of decisions made by 
different organizations, not just the College. 

Professional Standards for 
Midwives

The Professional Standards for Midwives 
(Professional Standards) came into effect on 
June 1, 2018. The development of the Professional 
Standards was a major step forward in reforming 
the College’s standards of practice promoting 
targeted and proportionate regulation in the 
public interest. We moved away from reliance 
on detailed, prescriptive rules to more high-

level, broadly stated rules or principles to set 
the standards by which midwives must practise. 
The Professional Standards provides the right 
amount of regulation based on the core principles 
of midwifery in Ontario, while ensuring high-
quality care is delivered by individual midwives. By 
reducing its focus on the small details, we support 
midwives to work autonomously using their 
knowledge, skills and judgment and to organize 
their practice in a way that better meets the needs 
of their clients given the unique conditions under 
which midwives work.
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Second Birth Attendants 
Standard

With the implementation of the Professional 
Standards, the requirement for two midwives 
at a birth was replaced by the requirement 
of either two midwives or one midwife and 
a second birth attendant attend each birth. 
For this reason, we revised the Second Birth 
Attendant Standard to define the expectations 
for midwives who work with second birth 
attendants. 

Second birth attendants who provide care in 
homes or other out-of-hospital locations, 
or in hospitals other than as employees or 
as privileged staff, are required to obtain a 
certificate of completion from the Neonatal 
Resuscitation Program (NRP) every 12 months. 

Waiver Policy

Under the approved Waiver Policy, College 
standards can be waived if midwives can 
demonstrate that there are exceptional 
circumstances related to their practice that 
warrant a departure from the current standards 
of practice. Exceptional circumstances is 
defined as conditions beyond one’s control that 
justify waiving College standards. A midwife 
applying for a waiver must demonstrate that 
the circumstances of the application are both 
in the public interest and are sufficiently 
exceptional to justify a departure from the 
relevant standards.

Criminal Record Screening 
Policy

Council approved the Criminal Record 
Screening Policy in October, and it was 
implemented in April 2019. The Criminal 
Record Screening Policy was developed in order 
for the College to have means to consistently 
screen applicants at entry-to-practise and 
current College members to determine if 
they meet the good character requirements 
of the Registration Regulation. As of April 1, 

2019, all applicants are required to submit the 
results of a Vulnerable Sector (VS) Check as 
part of their application to the College. College 
members are required to submit the results of 
a VS Check upon request. This is to determine 
whether there are any concerns about the 
member’s suitability to practise. If such 
grounds exist, the Registrar may appoint an 
investigator to inquire whether a member has 
committed an act of professional misconduct 
or is incompetent. 

Active Practice 
Requirements & 
Procedures

The Registration Committee approved a new 
Active Practice Requirements and Procedures 
document to ensure that the College is 
administering the current Registration 
Regulation effectively and has an effective 
process to support active practice requirements 
shortfall decisions. The new process was 
implemented on November 1, 2018.

Unauthorized & Illegal 
Practice

The College revised its approach to specifically 
address issues with unauthorized practitioners 
to whom cease and desist letters have been 
sent. In the past, all individuals who had 
received a cease and desist letter, or those 
that the College was in the process of seeking 
an injunction against, have had their names 
posted to the College’s website. Currently, the 
College only posts the names of individuals 
whom the College is in the process of 
obtaining an injunction against, or those that 
have already obtained an injunction against, 
and not those to whom cease and desist letters 
have been sent.
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Supervised Practice

The Registration Committee made changes 
to the Supervisor Criteria and Supervisor 
Agreement documents. New criteria are used 
to determine if a proposed midwife may act 
as a supervisor for an applicant or a member 
who is eligible to practise under a Supervised 
Practice certificate of registration. In October 
2018, Council rescinded the Policy on Criteria 
for Approval of Supervisors. The Agreement to 
Act as Supervising Midwife form was replaced 
with an updated Agreement and Conflict of 
Interest Declaration. 

Revised New Registrants 
Policy

Council approved changes to the way the 
College had been administering new registrant 
provisions outlined in the Registration 
Regulation. 

The definition of established practice has been 
revised to ensure that practices taking on new 
registrants have the capacity and resources 
to adequately orient and support them to 
the practice and hospital environments. 
New registrants are required to work at 
an established practice in their first year 
of practice. The policy also requires that 
new registrants attend births only with a 
general registrant who is not subject to new 
registrant conditions unless such registrants 
have already met the minimum requirement 
of attending 30 births as a primary midwife 
and 30 births as a second midwife. The policy 
requires that all births be attended in Ontario. 
The policy was approved in March 2019 to be 
implemented June 1, 2019.

Transitional Certificate of 
Registration

The Registration Committee made changes 
to the Transitional Certificate of Registration 
information and forms to align them with 
other revised registration policies, such as the 
revised New Registrants Policy. The revised 
Undertaking to be filed by an applicant and 
the Supervisor Agreement clarify what level 
supervision and coordination of supervision 
is expected in the context of the Transitional 
certificate of registration.

Alternative Dispute 
Resolution

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) is 
an alternative to the College’s complaints 
process and has no formal investigation. In 
ADR, the midwife considers the complainant’s 
perspective and provides an account of their 
conduct that was considered to be problematic 
by the complainant. This process only takes 
place if both the complainant and the midwife 
agree to resolve the complaint through this 
process. Only low-risk complaints that meet 
strict College criteria are eligible for a referral 
to ADR.  Higher risk complaints, including 
matters that involve alleged sexual abuse or 
matters that have already been referred to the 
Discipline Committee cannot be handled in this 
low-risk manner. The ADR Framework and 
associated guides were approved by Council in 
December 2018 and are now in effect.  
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Governance Changes

The College values public participation in its 
governance and took steps this past year to 
change its governance structure to allow for more 
public engagement and participation. These steps 
included making by-law changes to allow for the 
appointment of public members to the College’s 
Committees.

Council also approved by-law changes with 
respect to the eligibility and disqualification 
criteria for nomination to Council, appointment 
to Committees and disqualification of sitting 
members. Professional members are ineligible 
to run for election or apply for appointment if 
they have a moderate or significant professional 
conduct history. Any sitting professional member 
on Council would also be disqualified with the 
same professional conduct history.

In addition, by-law changes were made to require 
completion of the College’s training program 
relating to the duties, obligations and expectations 
of Council and committee members prior to 
becoming eligible for election, or appointment as 
a non-Council committee member (professional 
or public).  Council approved the College’s 
Governance Education Modules in March 2019 
as the required training program outlined in the 
by-laws. The modules and related quizzes were 
successfully introduced in time for the 2019 
professional election cycle. 

 

Birth Centre Facility 
Standards & Clinical 
Practice Parameters

One of the College’s duties, acting on behalf of 
the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, is 
to administer assessments of the two Ontario 
Midwife-Led Birth Centres licensed under the 
Independent Health Facilities Act (IHFA).  The 
College is responsible for setting the Facility 
Standards & Clinical Practice Parameters (FS & 
CPP) for the Birth Centres which also serves as the 
basis for assessments.

In the past year, the College conducted a 
comprehensive review of the FS & CPP and 
implemented revised standards on January 1, 
2019.  This work was undertaken to prepare for 
the next scheduled general assessments of Birth 
Centres in 2020.  
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Performance Measurement 
Framework
We  have high expectations of our members and 
we also have high expectations for ourselves as 
a regulatory body. Therefore, we developed a 
regulatory performance framework to measure 
the College’s regulatory effectiveness and to 
focus on areas for improvement. The framework 
describes the outcomes the College is expected 
to achieve in four broad domains: Regulatory 
Policy; Suitability to Practise; Openness and 
Accountability; Good Governance. It comprises a 
number of performance standards the College must 
meet while fulfilling our regulatory functions. In 
developing the performance standards, we sought 
to give a balanced overall picture of what the 
College is required to do, covering all functional 
areas of the College such as policy, registration, 
investigations and complaints, and quality 
assurance. This framework is now complete and 
will be implemented in the 2019-2020 fiscal year.

The HIROC Risk Assessment 
Checklists
In 2018, our Professional Conduct, Registration 
and Operations departments completed Year 2 of 
the Risk Assessment Checklist program developed 
by the Healthcare Insurance Reciprocal of Canada 
(HIROC). The program consists of risk modules 
for each of the high-frequency risks identified 
from HIROC’s extensive claims database. 

Each risk module is comprised of evidence-based 

mitigation strategies that Colleges are encouraged 
to implement to effectively address the respective 
risk in the areas of registration, professional 
conduct, privacy and access to information, and 
operations. Remaining areas of improvement 
were incorporated into departmental work plans 
and will be completed by November 2019.

Public Register By-law

Since 2015, in response to public demands 
and requests from the Ministry of Health and 
Long-Term Care, all health regulatory colleges, 
including the College of Midwives of Ontario, 
took significant steps to improve transparency 
of member information available to the public to 
enable them to decide who they wish to see for 
their health care. With the introduction of Bill 87, 
Protecting Patients Act, 2017 the College’s Public 
Register By-law which sets out what information 
is made public required further amendments to 
reflect the current legislation. Council approved 
the proposed changes in June 2018 to be 
implemented immediately.

How We Measure Our Regulatory Effectiveness

and Increase Our Transparency

As part of our strategic plan, we strive to regulate effectively and increase transparency for 
the public and our members. Some of our work is outlined below.
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Quality Assurance Program Non-
Compliance Decision Making Tool

This framework guides Quality Assurance 
Committee panel decision-making regarding 
Quality Assurance Program (QAP) non-
compliance thereby enabling a transparent, 
consistent and fair process. 

Registration Committee Risk 
Assessment Tool for Determining 
Requalification Programs

This tool is designed to support registration 
panel consistent decision-making when:

1.  assessing the extent to which deficiencies 
identified in a member’s or an applicant’s 
clinical experience affect their ability to provide 
competent midwifery care, and

2.  identifying what measures should be taken 
to satisfactorily address the deficiencies in the 
applicant’s or the member’s clinical experience.

ICRC Risk Assessment Framework

Designed to guide ICRC panels in their 
assessment of complaints and reports, this tool 
aids panel members in making fair, consistent 
and transparent decisions, and assists panel 
members when considering clinical and/or 
practice issues that may be raised in complaints 
and reports, along with the risk of harm they 
pose to clients and the public interest.

Risk is categorized into one of four categories: 
No or minimal risk; low risk; moderate risk; or 
high risk. By categorizing all actions into risk 
categories, decision makers on the panel are 
able to uniformly assess each complaint and 
report, enabling transparent, consistent and 
fair decision-making.

For each complaint and report, the ICRC panel 
assesses alleged concerns using the following 
categories that align with the principles outlined 
in the Professional Standards for Midwives:

•	 Demonstrating Professional Knowledge & 
Practice

•	 Providing Person-Centred Care

•	 Demonstrating Leadership & Collaboration

•	 Acting with Integrity

•	 Being Committed to Self-Regulation

In each situation there can be aggravating 
factors and mitigating factors, which are 
considered by the panel.  Some examples of 
aggravating factors include prior history, 
intent, and harm to the client. Some examples 
of mitigating factors include willingness to 
address the issue(s), cooperation, remorse, and 
no harm to the client.

Regulatory Impact Assessment 
Tool

Our regulatory impact assessment is an 
assessment of the expected impact of each 
regulatory or policy initiative that must be done 
before any regulatory measure is introduced 
or revised. The results of this analysis are, in 
effect, a justification of the need for regulation. 
Regulatory impact assessment is designed 
to help the College understand the impact of 
decisions, structure ideas, test assumptions and 
think beyond a regulation-based solution as 
the default. Every policy proposal designed to 
introduce a regulatory tool must be accompanied 
by a regulatory impact assessment (RIA) 
statement. This tool is designed to encourage 
rigour and better policy outcomes from the 
beginning.

Risk Assessment Tools Made Available to the Public 
The College is committed to fairness and transparency and as a result of this commitment, has 
posted its decision-making tools that are used by the College to promote consistent, fair and 
proportionate decision making, and to help with meaningful trends analysis.

The tools posted to our website include:
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Stakeholder Engagement 
Strategy

Our Stakeholder Engagement Strategy, developed 
in 2018, enables the College to use risk mitigation 
as the foundation for partnership. In doing so, 
we will continue to regulate effectively and work 
with stakeholders to ensure that any changes 
in regulations or policies are understood and 
easy to implement. This strategy also ensures 
that our communications with membership and 
stakeholders is clear, targeted, consistent and 
effective. 

This strategy will help raise awareness among 
students and members about the College, our 
role, and what is required for students to become 
registered and for members maintain their 
registration with the College.  

Resources For Members
Throughout the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the College 
developed guides to assist members with their 
regulatory responsibilities.  

Guide to the Health Care Consent Act

The purpose of this guide is to outline a midwife’s 
legal obligations for obtaining client consent as 
set out in the Health Care Consent Act.

Guideline on Ending the Midwife-Client 
Relationship

This guideline was created to describe situations 
in which it is appropriate for a midwife-client 
relationship to end and the corresponding 
obligations of a midwife in such situations.

How We Engage with 

Stakeholders and the Public

Our role at the College is to protect client safety and maintain public confidence in midwifery 
services. To achieve this, we register qualified individuals, set professional standards, establish 
requirements for continuous education and professional development, and investigate 
complaints and reports about professionals’ competence, conduct and fitness to practise.

We cannot effectively fulfil our mandate of regulating in the public interest without thoughtful 
engagement with stakeholders. We recognize the limits of our own statutory powers and 
responsibilities, and we believe that we do better work when working with others. We also 
believe that maintaining quality relationships with our stakeholders will enable us to achieve 
better regulatory outcomes. Our focus is always on the needs of the clients and the public, 
and by building comprehensive stakeholder engagement we will ensure that issues are 
dealt with by the most appropriate organization, rather than simply falling outside our remit.
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Guide on Mediating Risk in Care for 
Related Persons & Others Close to 
Midwives

The purpose of this guide is to assist midwives in 
understanding those circumstances where they 
have discretion to decide whether to provide 
care to family members and others close to 
them and if so, what factors should be taken 
into consideration in making that decision.

Guideline on Managing Personal & 
Practice Health

This guide was created to assist midwives in 
recognizing sources of stress in the midwifery 
profession along with signs of mental illness 
and addiction. It provides suggestions on how 
to manage personal health and wellness. It also 
provides suggestions for midwifery practice 
partners on how to appropriately administer a 
practice to ensure the health and wellness of 
associates.

Resources for the Public

What to Expect From Your Midwife 
Brochure

The brochure outlines the role of the College 
in regulating midwifery in the public interest, 
as well as what clients can expect from their 
midwives throughout their pregnancy and 
for the first six weeks postpartum. We sent 
brochures to all Midwifery Practice Groups 
across the province for client distribution. 

Filing a Complaint Guide 

Filing a Complaint Guide aims to educate the 
public on how they can file a complaint against a 
midwife, what the process is once the complaint 
is filed, and approximately how long the process 
takes.

Guide on Funding for Therapy & 
Counselling

The Guide on Funding for Therapy & Counselling 
sets out the information on the process for 
obtaining funding for therapy and counselling 
for individuals who were, or may have been, 
sexually abused by a member of the College. 

Sexual Abuse Complaints Guide

The Sexual Abuse Complaints Guide is 
intended to assist clients and the public in the 
understanding of why it is important to report 
sexual abuse and what you can expect when you 
do. 

Public Engagement Strategy
During the past year, we focused on raising 
awareness about the College through our social 
media platforms. This involved the development 
of strategic posts and running ads on Facebook, 
Twitter and Google to reach a wider audience. 
Content posted on these channels ranged from 
important updates from the College, highlights 
from 25 years of midwifery regulation and other 
relevant news pieces.

We have also collaborated with other health 
regulatory colleges on the Federation of 
Health Regulatory Colleges of Ontario (FHRCO) 
Public Engagement Project which involved 
the development of a public-facing website.
It was created as a one-stop gateway to the 
websites of all the health regulatory colleges 
in Ontario. From here the public can find the 
most trustworthy, relevant, and up-to-date 
information about their health care professional 
and the colleges that regulate them.

Page 56 of 142



24

By the Numbers

Page 57 of 142



25

By the Numbers

Page 58 of 142



26

By the Numbers

Page 59 of 142



27

Financial Statements

Page 60 of 142



28

held for financial 
statements

Page 61 of 142



29

held for financial 
statements

Page 62 of 142



30

held for financial 
statements

Page 63 of 142



31

held for financial 
statements

Page 64 of 142



32

held for financial 
statements

Page 65 of 142



33

held for financial 
statements

Page 66 of 142



21 St Clair Ave E. , Suite 303 

Toronto, Ontario, M4T 1L9

x:          1 416 640 2257

Email :       cmo@cmo.on.ca

Website:   www.cmo.on.ca

Twitter:      @cmo_osfo

Facebook: facebook.com/cmo.on.ca
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President’s Report  
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PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 

REPORT TO COUNCIL – June 26, 2019 
Prepared by: Tiffany Haidon 
 

1. General Highlights 

This election cycle saw the election through acclamation of three professional members, 
Lilly Martin acclaimed for a third term and the return of previous Council members 
Isabelle Milot and Claudette Leduc.  Congratulations to all three professional members - 
we look forward to seeing returning members Isabelle and Claudette in the Fall. 

I would like to thank our outgoing Public member, Jennifer Lemon who has declined the 
1-year appointed term as a public member.  I believe I can speak on behalf of Council in 
saying her contributions to the College of Midwives are deeply appreciated and we will 
miss her dedication, commitment and enthusiasm to regulating midwifery with a public 
lens.  The College will thank Jennifer for her 6 years on various Council Committees, 
Executive and Council following our October meeting.  

I would like to welcome Public member Judith Murray to Council.  The committee will 
assign Judith to the committees at June’s Council meeting. 

I attended the 25th Association of Ontario Midwives Conference representing the College.  
Of note, Shivani’s plenary on “Expert Opinions”- was well-presented and created a 
good dialogue showcasing the College and Association’s different perspectives.  
Members attending the session asked good question and came away with a wealth of 
knowledge of the process in securing expert opinions from both a regulatory and 
association perspective. 

 
2. Governance  

Weekly meetings with Kelly give me the opportunity to remain current with the 
College’s work and progress toward meeting our Strategic goals.  It has allowed me to be 
prepared for any new items needing to come to Council.   

Registrar Performance/ Performance Tool-ongoing.  

I am committed to working with Kelly and the Operations Director in creating an 
evidence-based review tool. With the development of the new tool, the Registrar’s job 
description will be revised to modernize the existing job description. 

The Registrar’s mid-year informal evaluation did not occur this year as both the job 
description and review tool are under construction. The new executive team will 
continue to work on the rapidly progressing job description and performance review 
tool. 
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Auditor’s Tool- the review of the auditor for 2018-2019 had been initiated at February’s 
Executive meeting.  We had an informative session on financial literacy with our 
Operations Director, Carolyn Doornecamp at May’s Executive meeting.  I have enjoyed 
mentoring the new Executive members on this tool to ensure hand-over will be effective 
in October. 

Council, Committee and Peer Evaluations:  

It is that time of year again where each member is asked to complete the surveys to 
evaluate Council, the Committee Chairs and each other’s performance.  Please keep an 
eye out for the various survey monkey evaluations coming to your email soon.  It is an 
expectation of council members to complete these evaluations and will be compensated 
in Council prep time.  Thank you in advance for this important feedback so that we can 
regulate the profession more effectively. 

 
3. Stakeholder Engagement (e.g. stakeholder meetings, conferences) 

Participation occurred at the following meetings: 

1. AOM 25th Annual Conference: May 7-9, 2019 

2. Executive Meeting and attendance at in-house portion of Audit: May 22, 2019 

3. OMSC: June 3, 2019 

4. CMRC: June 10, 2019 

5. OMRG: June 17, 2019- Regrets sent 

6. In Ex-Officio Status: meetings 

 
 
Attachment 
 

Scope of Practice Letter from MOHLTC 
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5096-01 (2019/03) 

Ministry of Health  
and Long-Term Care 

Office of the Deputy Premier 
and Minister of Health and 
Long-Term Care  

777 Bay Street, 5th Floor 
Toronto ON  M7A 1N3 
Telephone: 416 327-4300 
Facsimile: 416 326-1571 
www.ontario.ca/health 

Ministère de la Santé  
et des Soins de longue durée 

Bureau du vice-premier ministre 
et du ministre de la Santé et des 
Soins de longue durée  

777, rue Bay, 5e étage 
Toronto ON  M7A 1N3 
Téléphone :   416 327-4300 
Télécopieur : 416 326-1571 
www.ontario.ca/sante 

HLTC2968IT-2019-57 

Ms. Tiffany Haidon 
President 
College of Midwives of Ontario 
21 St. Clair Avenue East  
Suite 903 
Toronto ON  M4T 1L9 

Dear Ms. Haidon: 

Our government is committed to streamlining care pathways to make connections 
easier in the system, improving access to minor and routine care in the community and 
increasing patient choice in where to obtain health care services.   

As was articulated in the 2019 Ontario Budget, we are committed to enabling health 
professions to use their education and training more effectively by expanding the scope 
of practice for certain regulated health professionals.  

One way that we can achieve our vision is to ensure that midwives have access to the 
most up to date and relevant drug treatments and therapies for their clients.  The 
current regulatory framework does not enable this to occur. 

Therefore, I am asking the Council of the College of Midwives of Ontario (College) to 
amend its drug regulation to reflect categories of drugs from which your members may 
prescribe.  To support this new approach, I am expecting that the College will develop 
the appropriate infrastructure to support the regulation and that you actively engage with 
system partners to ensure that they have an opportunity to contribute to this important 
work.   

I would like the College to undertake this work immediately, with a view to submitting a 
regulation to the ministry for my review no later than December 31, 2019.  Ministry staff 
will reach out to you shortly to work with you and to answer any questions you may 
have. 

May 30, 2019
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- 2 -
Ms. Tiffany Haidon 

I would like to thank you for your continued contributions to the healthcare system in 
Ontario, and I look forward to your continued partnership in ensuring that patients who 
choose midwifery services can be assured that they are competent and safe and that 
they have access to the most up to date treatments and drug therapies. 

Sincerely, 

Christine Elliott 
Deputy Premier and Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 

c:  Helen Angus, Deputy Minister, Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 
Patrick Dicerni, Assistant Deputy Minister, Strategic Policy and Planning Division 
Allison Henry, Director, Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch  
Kelly Dobbin, Registrar, College of Midwives of Ontario 
Elizabeth Brandeis, President, Ontario Association of Midwives 
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
 

REPORT TO COUNCIL  
 
Committee Members 
 
Chair Tiffany Haidon 
Professional Claire Ramlogan-Salanga, VP;  Jan Teevan 
Public Susan “Sally” Lewis 

 
Committee Meetings 
 
May 22, 2019 – 9:30 am to 4:30 pm, CMO Boardroom  
 
June 18, 2019 (post-dated) – 10:00 am to 11:30 am, by teleconference (for review of audited 
financial statements) 
 
Items 
 
Approved on Behalf of Council 
 

• The College’s Q4 statement of operations was approved at the Executive Committee 
meeting on May 22, 2019 (attached) 

• Rescinding of President’s Stipend Policy 
• Alternative Dispute Resolution Facilitator Policy Revisions 
• Audited financial statements (meeting to be held June 18, 2019 for this purpose) 

Q4 Statement of Operations (attached)  
Please note, the Q4 statement of operations was approved.  The adjusting entries during 
the audit made small changes to the previously approved statements, the adjusted 
statement is attached.  Changes were not significant.   

President’s Stipend 
In consideration of the fiscal efficiencies being sought by the College, Council approved changes 
to how the President will be compensated.  The President’s Stipend Policy was therefore 
rescinded by the committee as of April 1, 2019 and the Fees & Remuneration by-laws will guide 
compensation for the President, using Chair rates, going forward.   
 
Alternative Dispute Resolution Facilitator Policy 
The committee approved minor revisions to the policy to align with College processes that were 
implemented.  
 
Audit 
Members of the committee met with Hilborn, LLP financial auditors of the College’s financial 
statements and were able to ask questions about the audit process that was underway. 
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College of Midwives of Ontario 
Executive Committee Report 
June 26, 2019 
 

Committee Composition recommendation 
Judith Murray was appointed as a public member to Council on April 4, 2019.  A recommendation 
for appointment(s) to specific committees will be made in a motion to Council. 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Q4 Statement of Operations 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Tiffany Haidon, Chair 
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CMO STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS: FISCAL April 1, 2018- March 31, 2019 (F19)
Q4 Statement - POST-AUDIT 

BUDGET CATEGORY

F19 
FORECAST 

BUDGET 
AMOUNT

Q4 
Spending  

April 1, 2018-
March 31, 

2019

Q4 Spending  
April 1, 2017-

March 31, 
2018

Percentage 
Variance 
Against 
Budget Explanatory Notes

STAFF- Salaries and Benefits
Sub-Total 1,258,635$    1,231,439$   1,246,355$   97.84%
OPERATIONAL COSTS
Professional Fees
Sub-Total 108,890$       85,114$        85,103$        78.17%
Council, Committees and Panels Per Diem Expenses
Sub-Total 155,000$       141,850$      171,377$      91.52%
Office and General
Sub-Total 352,060$       300,625$      305,815$      85.39%
Membership Fees

Sub-Total 48,004$         49,918$         $        24,020 103.99%
The revised CMRC membership fee was more than originally communicated to the 
College ($36,900 rather than $30,000).  

Conferences and Meetings
Sub-Total 18,500$         16,822$         $        11,878 90.93%
Program & Project Expenses
Sub-Total 320,376$       312,641$      235,835$      97.59%
CAPITAL COSTS
Sub-Total  $         41,372 36,528$        41,242$        88.29%
TOTALS 2,302,837$    2,174,937$   2,121,625$   94.45%
REVENUE 1,904,456$    1,952,823$   1,706,433$   102.54%
GRANT FROM RPU/MOHTLC 398,381$       398,381$      799,415$      0.00%
EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR -$                176,267$      384,223$      0.00%

Birth Centre Grant (Annual) 65,154$         
Birth Centre Expenses (Annual) 65,154$         
Net Birth Centre -$                

Accrued Liabilities Anticipated Use 103,148$       
Accrued Liability Usage 69,304$         

NARCOTICS SPECIAL FUNDING GRANT
Grant Remaining 3,352$           
Usage -$                
Remaining Grant 3,352$           

BIRTH CENTRE DETAILS F19

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT ACCRUAL DETAILS F19
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Council of the College of Midwives of Ontario

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the College of Midwives of Ontario (the "College"), which comprise the statement
of financial position as at March 31, 2019, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
College as at March 31, 2019,  and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the College in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above when
it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate
the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the College to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the College.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

1
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal
control of the College.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the ability of the College to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the College to cease to continue as a
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants
Date Licensed Public Accountants

2
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO
 

Statement of Financial Position
 

March 31 2019 2018
$ $

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 4) 2,288,046 1,508,744
Accounts receivable 27,604 3,576
Due from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (note 5) 398,381 799,415
Prepaid expenses 28,508 41,236

2,742,539 2,352,971

Capital assets (note 6) 123,215 159,742

2,865,754 2,512,713

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 7) 324,132 240,301
Deferred registration fees 928,262 823,388
Deferred project funding (note 8) 3,352 3,352

1,255,746 1,067,041

Deferred lease incentives (note 9) 40,770 52,701

1,296,516 1,119,742

NET ASSETS

Invested in capital assets 102,128 132,484
Internally restricted for therapy and counselling (note 10) 16,000 16,000
Unrestricted 1,451,110 1,244,487

1,569,238 1,392,971

2,865,754 2,512,713

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Approved on behalf of the Council:

  President

  Vice-President

3
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Statement of Operations

Year ended March 31 2019 2018
$ $

Revenues
Government grant - operating (notes 2 and 5) 398,381 799,415
Government grant - project funding (note 8) 65,154 75,140
Registration fees 1,848,332 1,632,022
Administration and other 104,491 74,411

2,416,358 2,580,988

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 1,231,438 1,246,356
Professional fees 85,114 85,103
Council and committees 141,850 171,377
Office and general 110,774 122,871
Rent and utilities (note 9) 168,947 159,810
Quality assurance program 15,560 27,297
Investigations and hearings 256,553 170,900
Membership dues and fees 53,133 25,648
Information and communications technology 75,041 71,021
Government projects (note 8) 65,154 75,140
Amortization 36,527 41,242

2,240,091 2,196,765

Excess of revenues over expenses for year 176,267 384,223

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

4
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31

Invested in
capital assets

Internally
restricted for
therapy and
counselling Unrestricted

2019
Total

$ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year 132,484 16,000 1,244,487 1,392,971

Excess of revenues over expenses
(expenses over revenues) for year (30,356) - 206,623 176,267

Balance, end of year 102,128 16,000 1,451,110 1,569,238

Invested in
capital assets

Internally
restricted for
therapy and
counselling Unrestricted

2018
Total

$ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year 165,855 10,000 832,893 1,008,748

Excess of revenues over expenses
(expenses over revenues) for year (35,071) - 419,294 384,223

Purchase of capital assets 1,700 - (1,700) -

Inter-fund transfer (note 10) - 6,000 (6,000) -

Balance, end of year 132,484 16,000 1,244,487 1,392,971

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

5
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended March 31 2019 2018
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Excess of revenues over expenses for year 176,267 384,223
Adjustments to determine net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities
Government grant - operations (398,381) (799,415)
Government grant - project funding (65,154) (75,140)
Amortization of capital assets 36,527 41,242
Amortization of deferred lease incentives (11,931) (11,931) 

(262,672) (461,021)
Change in non-cash working capital items

Increase in accounts receivable (24,028) (1,002)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 12,728 (7,694)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 83,831 68,035
Increase in deferred registration fees 104,874 52,895

(85,267) (348,787)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of capital assets - (1,700)

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipt of government grant - operations 799,415 -
Receipt of government grant - project funding 65,154 66,692

864,569 66,692

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 779,302 (283,795)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,508,744 1,792,539

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 2,288,046 1,508,744

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

6
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

Nature and description of the organization

The College of Midwives of Ontario (the “College”) was incorporated as a non-share capital corporation
under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (the “RHPA”).  As the regulator and governing body of
the midwifery profession in Ontario, the major function of the College is to administer the Midwifery Act,
1991 in the public interest. 

The College is a not-for-profit organization, as described in Section 149(1)(l) of the Income Tax Act, and
therefore is not subject to income taxes.

1. Significant accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations and include the following significant accounting policies:

(a) Revenue recognition

Contributions

The College follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions.

Restricted contributions, including funding received from the Ontario Ministry of Health and
Long-Term Care, are deferred and recognized as revenue in the year in which the related
expenses are incurred.

Registration fees

Registration fees are recognized as revenue in the fiscal year to which they relate. The
registration year of the College is October 1 to September 30. Registration fees received in
advance of the fiscal year to which they relate are recorded as deferred registration fees.

Administration and other

Administration and other fees are recognized as revenue when the service is rendered.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and guaranteed investment certificates which are
readily convertible into cash, are not subject to significant risk of changes in value and have
a maturity date of twelve months or less from the date of acquisition.

7
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

March 31, 2019

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Capital assets

The costs of capital assets are capitalized upon meeting the criteria for recognition as a
capital asset, with the exception of expenditures on internally generated intangible assets
during the development phase, which are expensed as incurred. The cost of a capital asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its
intended use.

Capital assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortization is provided for, upon commencement of the utilization of the assets, using
methods and rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated
useful lives. The methods and annual amortization rates are as follows:

Office equipment 20% declining balance
Computer equipment 20% - 30% declining balance

Amortization of leasehold improvements is provided for on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the respective lease.

A capital asset is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any potential impairment is
identified, the amount of the impairment is quantified by comparing the carrying value of the
capital asset to its fair value. Any impairment of the capital asset is recognized in income in
the year in which the impairment occurs.

An impairment loss is not reversed if the fair value of the capital asset subsequently
increases.

(d) Net assets invested in capital assets

Net assets invested in capital assets comprises the net book value of capital assets less the
unamortized balance of deferred tenant inducements used to purchase capital assets.

(e) Deferred lease incentives

Lease incentives consist of free rent benefits and tenant inducements received in cash used
to purchase capital assets.

Lease incentives received in connection with original leases are amortized to income on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the original leases. Lease incentives received in
connection with re-negotiated leases are amortized to income on a straight-line basis over
the period from the expiration date of the original lease to the expiration date of the re-
negotiated lease.

8
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

March 31, 2019

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Financial instruments

Measurement of financial assets and liabilities

The College initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
adjusted by the amount of transaction costs directly attributable to the instrument.

The College subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at
amortized cost.

Amortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortization of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and
minus any reduction for impairment.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities.

Impairment

At the end of each year, the College assesses whether there are any indications that a
financial asset measured at amortized cost may be impaired. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the College,
including but not limited to the following events: significant financial difficulty of the
issuer; a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; and bankruptcy or other financial reorganization proceedings.

When there is an indication of impairment, the College determines whether a significant
adverse change has occurred during the year in the expected timing or amount of
future cash flows from the financial asset.

When the College identifies a significant adverse change in the expected timing or
amount of future cash flows from a financial asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the
financial asset to the greater of the following:

- the present value of the cash flows expected to be generated by holding the
financial asset discounted using a current market rate of interest appropriate to the
financial asset; and

- the amount that could be realized by selling the financial asset at the statement of
financial position date.

9
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

March 31, 2019

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment (continued)

Any impairment of the financial asset is recognized in income in the year in which the
impairment occurs.

When the extent of impairment of a previously written-down financial asset decreases
and the decrease can be related to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed to the extent of the
improvement, but not in excess of the impairment loss. The amount of the reversal is
recognized in income in the year the reversal occurs.

(g) Management estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the current
year. Actual results may differ from the estimates, the impact of which would be recognized
in future years.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in
any future years affected.

2. Economic dependence

Previously, the College was economically dependent upon the provision of operating grants from
the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (the "OMHLTC") to meet the terms of its
mandate.

During the year, the OMHLTC gave notice to the College that no further operating grants would
be provided beyond those agreed upon for the current fiscal year. In response, the College
introduced cost control measures and increased registration fees to compensate for the lack of
government funding in future years. As a result, the College is no longer dependent on the
receipt of operating grants to meet the terms of its mandate.

10
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

March 31, 2019

3. Financial instrument risk management

The College is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides a measure of the College's risk exposure and concentrations.

The financial instruments of the College and the nature of the risks to which those instruments
may be subject, are as follows:

Risks
Market risk

Financial instrument Credit Liquidity Currency Interest rate Other price

Cash and cash equivalents X X
Accounts receivable X
Accounts payable and accrued

liabilities X
 
Credit risk

The College is exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that parties may default on their
financial obligations, or if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with the same party,
or if there is a concentration of financial obligations which have similar economic characteristics
that could be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions, such that the College could
incur a financial loss. The College does not hold directly any collateral as security for financial
obligations of counterparties.

The maximum exposure of the College to credit risk is as follows:

2019 2018
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 2,288,046 1,508,744
Accounts receivable 27,604 3,576

2,315,650 1,512,320

The College reduces its exposure to the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents by maintaining
balances with a Canadian financial institution.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will not be able to meet a demand for cash or fund its
obligations as they come due.

The College meets its liquidity requirements by preparing and monitoring detailed forecasts of
cash flows from operations and anticipated investing and financing activities.

11
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

March 31, 2019

3. Financial instrument risk management (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The College is not exposed to currency risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The College does not use derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate
risk.

Other price risk

Other price risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than
those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk), whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all similar instruments
traded in the market.

The College is not exposed to other price risk.

Changes in risk

There have been no significant changes in the risk profile of the financial instruments of the
College from that of the prior year.

4. Cash and cash equivalents

2019 2018
$ $

Cash 1,488,046 1,508,744
Guaranteed investment certificate - 1.60%, due 06/19/2019 800,000 -

2,288,046 1,508,744

 

12
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

March 31, 2019

5. Due from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long- Term Care

2019 2018
$ $

Due from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care,
beginning of year 799,415 -

Grant monies required to fund the operations of the College 398,381 799,415

Grant monies received from the Ontario Ministry of Health and
Long-Term Care to fund the operations of the College (799,415) -

Due from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care,
end of year 398,381 799,415

The amount due from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care was received
subsequent to the year end.

6. Capital assets

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2019
Net

$ $ $

Office equipment 60,814 50,184 10,630
Computer equipment 57,002 45,080 11,922
Leasehold improvements 201,327 100,664 100,663 

319,143 195,928 123,215

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2018
Net

$ $ $

Office equipment 60,814 47,527 13,287
Computer equipment 57,002 39,971 17,031
Leasehold improvements 201,327 71,903 129,424

319,143 159,401 159,742

13
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COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF ONTARIO

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

March 31, 2019

7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2019 2018
$ $

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 89,678 123,304
Accrued liabilities - investigations and hearings 226,668 103,148
Government remittances 7,786 13,849

324,132 240,301

8. Deferred project funding

Health Canada’s Office of Controlled Drugs and Substances has authorized the provincial
government to confer midwives with the authority to prescribe narcotics. The College previously
received special project funding from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care to
promote changes to narcotics regulation in order to ensure its members are able to perform their
duties adequately. 

The College receives special project funding from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term
Care to develop and implement a quality assurance program for Birth Centres.

Narcotics
Regulation

Birth
Centres

2019
Total

$ $ $

Deferred project funding, beginning of year 3,352 - 3,352
Project funding received during the year - 65,154 65,154
Project funding recognized as revenue in the

year - (65,154) (65,154)

Deferred project funding, end of year 3,352 - 3,352

 
Narcotics

Regulation
Birth

Centres
2018
Total

$ $ $

Deferred project funding, beginning of year 11,800 - 11,800
Project funding received during the year - 66,692 66,692
Project funding recognized as revenue in the

year (8,448) (66,692) (75,140)

Deferred project funding, end of year 3,352 - 3,352

14
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

March 31, 2019

9. Deferred lease incentives

Pursuant to the lease agreement for the office premises of the College, lease incentives totaling
$83,523, comprised of tenant inducements of $43,200 and free rent benefits of $40,323 were
received.

During the year, amortization of lease incentives in the amount of $11,931 (2018 - $11,931) was
credited to rent and utilities expense.

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2019
Net

$ $ $

Tenant inducements 43,200 22,113 21,087
Free rent benefits 40,323 20,640 19,683

83,523 42,753 40,770

 

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

2018
Net

$ $ $

Tenant inducements 43,200 15,942 27,258
Free rent benefits 40,323 14,880 25,443

83,523 30,822 52,701

 
10. Net assets internally restricted for therapy and counselling

The Council of the College has internally restricted net assets for the purposes of funding therapy
and counselling for midwifery clients as directed under the RHPA. 

In the prior year, Council approved a transfer of $6,000 from unrestricted net assets to net assets
internally restricted for therapy and counselling.

The internal restriction is subject to the direction of Council upon the recommendation of the
Executive Committee.

11. Commitment

The College is committed to lease its office premises until August 2022. The future annual lease
payments, including an estimate of premises common area expenses, are as follows:

$

2020 193,795
2021 196,593
2022 196,593
2023 81,914

668,895
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REGISTRAR-CEO QUARTERLY REPORT 
 

REPORT TO COUNCIL – June 26, 2019 
Prepared by: Kelly Dobbin 
 
1. General Highlights  

 
The College received a final transfer of operational funds totaling $398,381 from the Ministry 
at the end of April 2019 for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2019.   The 2019-20 budget 
decisions made at last Council meeting anticipated the receipt of these funds, therefore no 
budget adjustments are necessary at this time.  The College conducted a mandatory 60-day 
public consultation on proposed changes to the Fees & Remuneration By-Law relating to a 
proposed increase of membership fees.  A summary report on the feedback received is 
provided to Council in this package in the form of a briefing note. All detailed feedback, as 
well as a rationale for the proposed changes and a Q&A page, can be viewed on the 
consultation page of the College’s website.   

 
The 2019 election cycle for professional member positions on Council concluded with the 
acclamation of Lilly Martin, Claudette Leduc and Isabelle Milot.  We are very pleased to 
welcome Lilly back for a third consecutive term and to also welcome Isabelle and Claudette 
back to Council after short absences.  We are grateful that these members put their names 
forward and look forward to working closely with them as they begin their three-year terms 
in October. 
 
In addition, we welcome Judith Murray as our newest public Council member who was 
appointed in April for a one-year term.  Judith will attend our June Council meeting and we 
look forward to meeting her in person.  
 
Public Council member and Vice-President Jennifer Lemon’s second three-year term expired 
in April.  She was offered a one-year re-appointment in May and therefore declined the 
appointment in order to look for new opportunities to contribute meaningfully to her 
community. We are grateful for Jennifer’s contributions to the College over the past six years 
in her various roles on Council, committees and working groups and we are sad to see her go.   
 
It is of great concern to the College that all remaining public Council members’ terms expire 
in the spring of 2020. The College has asked the Ministry to reconsider its recent practice of 
appointing public members to one-year terms only as this poses a risk to meaningful 
contributions from public members on Council and to the stability of Council in general.  You 
will find this request to Minister C. Elliott in our letter of support for the College of Nurses of 
Ontario’s Vision 2020 that is attached to this report.  
 
Also attached to this report is a Grey Areas summary of the Harry Cayton (former CEO of the 
UK’s Professional Standards Authority) report on the recent inquiry into the College of Dental 
Surgeons of British Columbia.  The summary, written by Rebecca Durcan of Steinecke 
Maciura LeBlanc (SML), highlights the important recommendations in the report as they 
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pertain to areas of governance, measurement of regulatory performance, external 
relationships, protection of the public, and legislative reform.   
 
Some of the recommendations in the report are not directly applicable to our College or any 
health regulatory College in Ontario, but most are quite relevant.  For example, in terms of its 
governance recommendations, the report advises that incoming Council members should 
participate in an “induction program” before being chosen to serve.  Our College recognized 
the importance of having well-informed and well-intended members serving on Council and 
revised its bylaws last year to require candidates for nomination to successfully complete 
governance education training in advance of running for election.  In addition, the report 
recommends that Association Board members should be ineligible to serve on Council until 
they have endured a three-year “cooling off” period.  The College has similarly been 
proactive on this recommendation as our Bylaws have for many years required any director, 
board member, officer or employee of a midwifery association to wait at least twelve months 
prior to becoming eligible for nomination to serve on Council.   
 
The report found that the BC College did not meet the standards for good regulation, as 
defined by the Professional Standards Authority, and made specific recommendations which 
would result in the College becoming more transparent, fair, proportionate (in terms of their 
response to risks of harm), effective and accountable.  
 
The report further challenges all health regulatory colleges to narrow their focus from the 
broader “protection of the public” lens to a more specific and measurable mandate “to 
protect the safety of patients, to prevent harm and promote the health and well-being of the 
public”.   
 
Finally, the report recommends legislative reforms for all health regulators to reduce the size 
of Councils to 12 members with only half being members of the profession; as well as other 
recommendations that have been frequently discussed in Ontario, including: to merge 
smaller colleges into fewer, larger ones; to remove the adjudication of disciplinary disputes 
from regulators, to be performed by an independent body; to maintain a single public register 
of every health professional in the province; and, to have an independent oversight body 
review the performance of regulators. 
 
Since the release of this report, the BC Minister of Health has requested health regulatory 
Colleges to make a plan to address these recommendations, and to specifically propose a plan 
to merge smaller Colleges into fewer, larger ones.  This report will no doubt affect the 
regulatory environment in Ontario and may serve to push us forward from the speculative 
arena into a reformed one.   
 
The full Cayton report can be found here and I encourage Council to read it, with particular 
attention to Part 2, as it will provide further context and insight into the positive steps our 
College has undertaken in recent years as well as identify areas of legislative reform that may 
be on our horizon.  We will engage in further discussion about the report and potential 
outcomes in person at the Council meeting. 
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2. Strategic Priorities  
 

i. Modernization of Legislation & Regulations 

We continue to work closely with the Ministry on our proposed changes to the 
General Regulation and Professional Misconduct Regulation.  We have responded 
to additional questions they have posed and are hopeful that the next stage of 
drafting will soon be underway.   

The College was contacted on June 11th, 2019 to respond to proposed amendments 
to regulations under the Laboratory and Specimen Collection Centre Licensing Act and 
the Health Insurance Act. The proposed amendments would add Permanent 
Hearing Loss Risk (PHL Risk) as an insured service and to the list of tests 
performed for the Newborn Screening Ontario (NSO) program at the Children’s 
Hospital of Eastern Ontario (CHEO).  

The proposed amendments to Reg. 682 of the Laboratory and Specimen Collection 
Centre Licensing Act would:  

a. Add PHL Risk as a condition for which the Newborn Screening Test 
may be performed by a laboratory operated by CHEO as part of the 
Newborn Screening Test; and  

b. Update the description of Newborn Screening Test to include PHL Risk, in 
Appendix B of Reg. 682 which lists the tests midwives may request.  

The proposed amendments to Reg. 552 under the Health Insurance Act would:  

a. Add PHL Risk to L022 fee code in the SOB-LS;  

b. Update the definition of “schedule of laboratory benefits” to reflect 
the effective date of the SOB-LS, under s. 1(1).  

The College has been asked to respond to these proposed changes by June 17th, 
2019.  The changes do not consider or address the College’s previous requests to 
rescind Appendix B.  A summary of the College’s response and any additional 
updates to the Scope of Practice submission which recommended changes to the 
Designated Drugs Regulation and the Laboratories Regulation under the 
Laboratory and Specimen Collection Centre Licensing Act will be provided in person at 
Council.   

 
ii. Implementation of Risk-Based Regulation 

 
The College’s Regulatory Performance Measurement Framework is complete and in your 
package for consideration and approval.  This framework provides the College with a way 
to review, evaluate and report on its performance using a set of standards based on its 
legislative mandate and expected outcomes. This process is not legislatively mandated but 
is a voluntary commitment by the College to evaluate its performance and to demonstrate 
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that it indeed regulates in the public interest. Council reviewed and provided feedback on 
the first draft of the framework in March 2019.  The Health Workforce Regulatory 
Oversight Branch of the Strategic Policy and Planning Division continues to develop their 
own Performance Measurement Framework that they provided an overview for to Council 
in December 2018. The two frameworks are expected to dovetail nicely when both are fully 
implemented.   
 

iii. Public Participation & Engagement  
 
To provide faster and more reliable service to the public, we transferred our website over 
to a new server. In addition, to bolster security on our website, we have added an SSL 
certificate to ensure that information from users is protected.  In order for the public to 
have a better understanding of the College, we continue to update and refresh the content 
on our website to allow for easier navigation and clarity. 
  
A Public Register campaign was advertised on Google Ads to entice the public to learn 
more about the College and our role in regulating midwifery across Ontario. We continue 
to promote our 25-year anniversary campaign and it is still at the forefront of our social 
media content. We continue to post regularly on our platforms. 

  
 

3. Stakeholder Engagement 

The College has been actively engaged with stakeholders since the last report, 
including the following activities: 

• Canadian Midwifery Regulators Council Meeting March 18 
• Health Quality Ontario consultation on Noninvasive Fetal RhD March 21 
• Canadian Midwifery Registration Exam Committee Meeting April 2 
• Presentation to 3rd year midwifery students at McMaster University April 10 
• Meeting with Association of Ontario Midwives to review changes to College policies 

affecting members April 16 
• Federation of Health Regulatory Colleges of Ontario (FHRCO) Annual Meeting and 

Board of Directors Meeting April 25 
• Meeting with assessors for McMaster University Accreditation Pilot April 27 
• McMaster onsite Accreditation Assessment April 29 and 30th 
• Ontario Midwifery Conference May 6-8, including participation of panel regarding 

College’s use of expert opinions and witnesses in professional conduct matters. 
• Canadian Midwifery Regulators Council Executive Committee Meeting May 27 
• Canadian Midwifery Registration Exam Committee Meeting May 28 
• Meeting with Allison Henry, Director of Health Regulatory Oversight Branch May 31 
• Ontario Midwifery Strategy Council meeting May 3 
• Independent Health Facilities Branch meeting June 4 
• Meeting with Allison Henry, Director of Health Regulatory Oversight Branch June 5 
• Canadian Midwifery Regulators Council Board Meeting June 10 
• Ontario Midwifery Reference Group scheduled for June 17 
• Liaison meeting with Association of Ontario Midwives scheduled for June 18 
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4. Executive Expectations 
 

i. Interaction with Registrants and Members of the Public  

The College continues to communicate regularly with members and stakeholders 
through email notifications, quarterly newsletters, annual reports, Twitter and 
Facebook.  In addition, we regularly assist members and stakeholders via email 
and telephone.  Practice advice issues are tracked in order to inform the 
development or revision of guidance materials or regulatory tools.  

As part of the Staff Operations Manual launched in May 2018 the College’s 
customer service commitment was formalized in a Response Standard 
policy.  The goal of the policy was to make clear to all staff the commitment to 
acknowledge all inquiries within 2 business days.  As a means to ensure we are 
meeting the standard the College will be communicating the standard both 
through its website, and through the phone system script.   As part of the 
communication we are providing a mechanism of bringing to the College’s 
attention instances where we have fallen short of the standard.  Complaints 
regarding the College’s responsiveness will be tracked and used as both a means 
to initiate improvements and to enable the College to measure its performance 
against the policy.  

On May 10th the College published its spring edition of the On Call newsletter for 
midwives.  The spring issue covered the College’s Fee Consultation, Alternative 
Dispute Resolution process, and changes to the recently approved New 
Registrant’s Policy.  The newsletter shared highlights from the March Council 
meeting, and provided important information for midwives on ophthalmic 
agents, governance education, succession planning to help prevent abandoned 
records and practice advice to assist in achieving professional standards.  In 
addition, members were reminded and encouraged to participate in the recently 
launched Professional Standards for Midwives and the Consultation and Transfer 
of Care Standard Survey.  

ii. Programs and Projects 

The College’s Quality Assurance (QA) peer and practice assessment program is a 
requirement under the RHPA, 1991, sections 80.2 and 82. The intention of the 
peer and practice assessment program is to assess a member’s knowledge, skills 
and judgment to ensure competence. Quality Assurance assessments are based on 
the premise that members are competent and so tend to be a review rather than 
an exploration of a member’s practice. In the fall of 2017, the College initiated a 
review of its peer and practice assessment program and since then has developed 
and piloted new assessment tools and has hired and trained a new pool of 
assessors.  The tools include a distance assessment tool and a more 
comprehensive in-person assessment tool for those members who did not meet 
the College’s expectations of the distance assessment.  Council will be asked to 
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approve the revised Quality Assurance Peer and Practice Assessment Program in 
October 2019.  

Section 13 of the Registration Regulation outlines how an applicant may be issued 
a Supervised Practice certificate of registration. To improve the College’s 
approach to administering and monitoring supervision plans, staff undertook a 
review of the development of Plans for Supervised Practice and Evaluation at 
entry-to-practise. In addition, staff analyzed data to understand what clinical 
experience applicants have at the time of application, what they are required to 
do as part of a Plan for Supervised Practice and Evaluation and how that 
compares to the clinical experience requirements outlined in the Registration 
Regulation. Together with the Registration Committee, the College has 
implemented a revised approach that is clear, consistent and fair. 

The Criminal Record Screening Policy was developed in order for the College to 
have means to consistently screen applicants at entry-to-practise, and members 
upon request, to determine if they meet the good character requirements of 
sections 7 and 10 of the Registration Regulation. This policy consists of applicants 
submitting the results of a Vulnerable Sector (VS) Check.  As you are aware, 
Council approved the Criminal Record Screening Policy in October 2018 and it was 
successfully implemented on April 1, 2019.  

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) is a complaints process that has no formal 
investigation. In ADR, the midwife considers the complainant’s perspective and 
provides an account of their conduct that was considered to be problematic by the 
complainant. In 2018, the College developed the Alternative Dispute Resolution 
Framework and associated guides. This framework and guides were approved by 
Council in December 2018 and were successfully implemented prior to April 1, 
2019, as directed.  Several new complaints have been deemed eligible for ADR, 
however, to date the College has not yet had consent to process these complaints 
in this manner.  

 
iii. Human Resources  

Several meetings took place between Regulated Health Colleges over the last year 
in order to investigates ways the College’s might pool their benefits 
plan.  Increasing the number of members in the plan brings the cost down 
significantly on a per member bases.  In the end the College received a quote from 
the pooled group that was leveraged by our existing broker to secure a vendor 
who would match the price.  The College was able to secure a new plan through 
Manulife that both matched the price and offered our staff a comparable plan 
with some useful new extra services.  The change of plan results in an overall cost 
savings of about 35%.    The new plan began June 1.  

We are pleased to welcome Nila Halycia to the College in the role of 
Communications and Stakeholder Relations Officer.  Nila has a background in 
regulation having recently worked with the Bereavement Authority of Ontario.  
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Nila has recently been appointed to the Communications Committee of the 
Federation of Health Regulatory Colleges of Ontario (FHRCO) and will continue to 
work collaboratively with other health regulatory College staff to implement 
FHRCO’s public engagement strategy.   

 
Attachments 
 
SML Grey Areas May 2019 - No. 236 
Letter to Minister C. Elliott: Support for College of Nurses of Ontario’s Vision 2020 
FHRCO 2018-2019 Highlights 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98 of 142



 

FOR MORE INFORMATION 
This newsletter is published by Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional regulation. If you are not receiving a copy and would like one, 
please contact: Richard Steinecke, Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, 401 Bay Street, Suite 2308, P.O. Box 23, Toronto, ON M5H 2Y4, Tel: 416-626-6897  Fax: 416-593-7867,  
E-Mail: info@sml-law.com  

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE 
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newsletters. Our policy is that readers may reprint an article as long as credit is given to both the newsletter 
and the firm. Please send us a copy of the issue of the newsletter which contains a reprint from Grey Areas. 

 

The Cayton Report:  

The Wolf Finally Arrives 
 
by Rebecca Durcan 
May 2019 - No. 236 
 
For years observers have been saying that regulators 
of professions are under intense scrutiny and unless 
they regained public confidence then self-regulation 
without systematic oversight would end in Canada. 
Over time it has become easier to ignore these pleas 
as self-regulation continued to muddle along, but no 
longer. While the analogy to the little boy who cried 
wolf is imperfect (no one would call the author of the 
report or his agency’s ideas “wolves”), the concept of 
snubbing previous warnings and subsequently facing 
real consequences is relevant.  
 
On April 11, 2019, the long awaited report of the 
Professional Standards Authority (PSA) (headed at 
the time it was written by Harry Cayton) on the 
Inquiry into the College of Dental Surgeons of British 
Columbia was released. On the same day the Minister 
of Health gave the College thirty days to deliver an 
implementation plan for the recommendations 
directed at it. The Minister also announced that he has 
set up a steering committee to examine the 
recommendations related to the oversight of all 
regulated health professions.  
 
Governance 

 
Some of the key observations in the report about 
governance include the following: 
 

 Boards should focus on three things: 

o ensuring the College complies with its 
mandate and the law 

o setting strategy and monitoring 
performance and  

o holding the registrar and chief 
executive to account for delivery. 

 Boards should dispense with formal rules of 
procedure (e.g., motions and votes) and, with 
rare exceptions, operate through consensus. 

 Secret ballots have no place in a public body. 
 Secret meetings (in the absence of staff) 

should be extremely rare and require centrally 
maintained minutes. 

 The Board should partner with staff to achieve 
the organization’s mandate; staff do not just 
administratively implement Board directions. 

 Dysfunction in an organization occurs when 
Board members and staff no longer respect 
and trust each other. 

 
The report’s recommendations include: 
 

 Candidates for selection to the Board from 
within the profession should be required to 
participate in an “induction programme” 
before being chosen. 

 Officers or representatives from the 
professional association or similar bodies 
should have a three-year cooling off period 
before they can serve with the regulator. 

 The governance committee should be 
abolished and Board officers should not attend 
audit committee meetings unless invited. 

 Board members should not procure goods or 
services directly. Procurement should be 
through staff pursuant to appropriate policies. 

 “The Board must stop seeing itself as the 
College and recognise that its role is to govern 
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the College and oversee its performance but 
that the College is run and managed by its 
professional staff.” 

 
Measuring Regulatory Performance 

 
The report assessed the performance of the College 
according to the criteria that the PSA uses for the 
bodies it oversees. The following areas were found to 
have not met the standard: 
 

 Standards of practice do not identify 
mandatory expectations upon practitioners and 
are unclear in some areas. 

 There is not a systematic and accountable 
process for identifying and developing new or 
revised standards. 

 Standards are not clearly worded nor are they 
effectively communicated to the profession 
and to the public. 

 Complaints are not appropriately assessed for 
risk and prioritized upon receipt. 

 The complaints process is not transparent, fair, 
proportionate and focused on public protection 
because of its composition, and because of the 
excessive role of staff and because of the 
misuse of undertakings option. 

 Complaints are not dealt with promptly with a 
view to preventing harm to the public while in 
process. 

 Insufficient reasons are provided for actions 
taken on complaints. 

 The regulator does not have an effective 
process for identifying, assessing, escalating 
and managing organizational risks. 

 Board oversight does not include the effective 
use of key performance indicators and a 
corporate risk register. 

 The regulator does not collect and use 
performance and outcomes information about 
patients and the public as a part of its strategic 
planning. 

 The Board does not work cooperatively, with 
an appropriate understanding of its role as a 
governing body and members’ individual 
responsibilities. 

 
External Relationships 

 
The report identified a broad lack of understanding of 
the role of the College to regulate the profession in 
the public interest. This was demonstrated by the 
election campaign statements, the perceptions of 
Board members from the profession and in the history 
of various regulatory initiatives. Examples of  the 
regulatory initiatives of concern was the failure to 
implement a standard preventing dentists from 
treating their spouses and the challenges faced by 
attempts to implement an enhanced quality assurance 
program. The report states: 
 

The College needs to build a different 
relationship with its dentist registrants: one of 
both mutual respect and distance. It cannot do 
so when its Board is elected by registrants and 
partially subject to their control. It is hard for 
it to build a new relationship with the 
profession when it is so closely tied 
financially and through personal contact and 
individuals to the [professional association] 
and other dental organisations. An 
independent, effective, efficient, fair and 
public focussed regulator is good for the 
dental community as a whole. It is especially 
good for skilled and ethical dentists who never 
have a complaint. 
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The report stated plainly that the relationship between 
the regulator and the professional association was too 
close and strongly recommended the severing of 
many of those ties (e.g., the regulator cease collecting 
annual fees for membership in the professional 
association). 
 
The report commended the affiliation of the regulator 
with the other health regulators in a loose umbrella 
organization as a model of collaboration. 
 
The report indicated that while the regulator had 
regular contact with the government, one aspect of the 
relationship that was not working well was the 
appointment of public members to the Board. The 
criteria used in making such appointments were 
uncertain and there were too many vacancies. 
 
In terms of engaging the public, the report noted a 
reluctance of the Board to engage with the public and 
the lack of a strategy to more effectively obtain the 
input and perspective of the very people it is 
mandated to protect.  
 
Protecting the Public 

 
This portion of the report is perhaps the most hard-
hitting. It definitively states that regulators have no 
advocacy role. It also says: 
 

A concern for the well-being of dentists rather 
than a single-minded focus on patient safety 
and public protection is still a part of College 
culture. 

 
After providing some quotations of statements made 
to the inquiry by leaders in the profession, including 
those working for the regulator, the report states: 

 
I don’t think these perspectives are typical but 
for dentists who are active in the College and 
dental community to express them suggests a 
profound misunderstanding of the purpose of 
professional regulation and lack of concern for 
the safety and well-being of patients. 

 
The report noted that the mandate of the regulator “to 
serve and protect the public” was broad. The report 
expressed concerned that the regulator was reading 
the mandate it too broadly. The report suggests that 
the mandate of regulators “does not ask regulators to 
be responsible for public health or for access to health 
professionals”.  
 
The report recommends that the mandate of regulators 
be narrowed to read: 
 

To protect the safety of patients, to prevent 
harm and promote the health and well-being 
of the public. 

 
The report illustrates these concerns. One instance 
was the failure of the regulator to establish, as 
required by the legislation, a patient relations 
committee and a program dealing with sexual abuse. 
The only sexual abuse guideline developed by the 
regulation was permissive rather than restrictive in 
nature (i.e., enabling dentists to treat their spouses). 
 
Another example provided was the failure to 
effectively enforce the standard related to sedation 
and anaesthesia. This discussion included an example 
where a young patient experienced permanent brain 
damage by a practitioner who had disregarded many 
of the most basic requirements yet was permitted to 
remain in the profession. 
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Legislative Reform 

 
In addition to the recommendations described above 
some of the more significant recommendations for 
legislative reform for all health regulators include the 
following: 
 

 Boards be reduced to twelve members, all of 
whom are appointed (not through the current 
government process) on the basis of 
demonstrated skills with only half being 
members of the profession. 

 Smaller regulators should be merged into 
fewer, larger ones. 

 A simplified complaints system with three 
components: triage, investigation, and 
adjudication. 

 An expanded duty to report publicly on all 
operations of the regulator including 
complaints outcomes. 

 The Review Board should be able to initiate, 
on its own, a review of a complaint outcome 
even if there is no appeal. 

 
Longer term reforms would include: 
 

 Having a single set of ethical rules and 
conduct expectations for all health 
professions. 

 Removing adjudication of disciplinary 
disputes from the regulators, to be performed 
by an independent body. 

 That same independent body would also 
maintain a single register of every health 
practitioner in the province. 

 There should be a separate independent 
oversight body that reviews the performance 
of regulators, approves some of the standards 

developed by them and manages the Board 
member selection process. 

 The independent oversight body would also 
employ an occupational risk assessment 
process that would be used to recommend 
which professions require formal statutory 
regulation. 

 
Conclusion 

 
In summary, the Cayton report contains a detailed 
review of the performance of the College of Dental 
Surgeons of British Columbia. It identified serious 
deficiencies in the governance of the regulator. It also 
concluded that there were gaps in the regulatory 
performance of the regulator in eleven areas. It 
commented on a number of areas for improvement in 
its external relationships with various groups. It 
concluded that the regulator was not focussed 
exclusively on its public interest mandate, particularly 
in the area of public safety.  
 
The report makes a number of sweeping short term 
and long term proposals for regulatory reform for all 
health professional regulators. These include a 
completely appointed Board of twelve people, half of 
whom are public members, merging regulators, 
separating out the adjudication of discipline matters 
and the operation of a single public register, and the 
creation of an oversight agency that would review and 
report on the regulatory performance of the 
regulators.  
 
This report is broadly consistent with recent 
developments in British Columbia, and other 
provinces including Ontario and Nova Scotia and the 
regulatory regime that has existed in Quebec for 
many years. 
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The Cayton Report can be found at: 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/health/practitioner
-pro/professional-regulation/cayton-report-college-of-
dental-surgeons-2018.pdf. 
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June 7, 2019 

Hon. Christine Elliott,  
Minister of Health and Long-Term Care and Deputy Premier of Ontario 
Hepburn Block, 10th Floor, 80 Grosvenor Street 
Toronto, ON M7A 2C4 

RE: Support for College of Nurses of Ontario’s Vision 2020 

Dear Minister, 

On behalf of the College of Midwives of Ontario, I would like to express our support for 
the College of Nurses of Ontario’s (CNO) submission dated January 8, 2019, regarding its 
vision for modernizing regulatory governance in Ontario. 

Our College welcomes the proposed legislative changes which will improve the 
effectiveness of health regulatory colleges, enhance protection of the public, and inspire 
greater public trust in our work.  In fact, our College has already made changes to 
governance that clearly align with the CNO’s vision and are within our abilities, given the 
current legislative context.  I am pleased to provide you with a list of those changes our 
Council has made in recent years that demonstrate a commitment to achieving best 
practices in governance.  

1. Policy Governance
The College’s Council adopted a policy governance framework in 2014, setting clear
expectations for Council members’ roles and responsibilities, as well as
expectations and limitations for the Registrar.  Council regularly reviews these
policies, and the Registrar acts within the set boundaries. Our Council is committed
to transparency and therefore makes our governance policies accessible to the
public on our website.

2. Commitment to Governance Capacity Building
The College’s Council invests in its regulatory and governance capacity including
the development of skills, processes, and supports. For the past several years, the
Council has devoted one full day of training prior to each Council meeting (four full
training days per year).  Training sessions are delivered by experts in governance,
health regulation, or delivered by staff when appropriate.  Training sessions have
included topics on risk-based regulation, governance, policy development, health
professionals’ continuing competency, decision-writing, and making reasoned and
defensible decisions. Council member’s attendance is expected, and members can
be disqualified from Council if their commitment is not demonstrated, in
accordance with By-laws.
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3. Council, Committee and Peer Evaluations
The College’s Council undertakes an annual evaluation of its work.  Each member
completes a survey to evaluate the work of Council, the work of committees, the
effectiveness of committee chairs, and the effectiveness of individual Council
members.  The Executive Committee reviews and analyzes the results and presents
Council with a plan to address any shortcomings.  The President conducts
individual meetings with each Council member to review the peer feedback and to
support the development of competencies that may be required.  In addition, each
Council member self-identifies their strengths and weaknesses according to the
Council’s competency matrix.  Skills, attitudes, and behaviours that are identified
as requiring additional training are then developed as training opportunities for the
following year’s cycle.

4. Executive Committee
Although modern governance frameworks no longer recommend the existence of
an Executive Committee, the RHPA identifies it as a statutory committee.  In an
effort to comply with best practices in governance within the current legislation,
our Council revised the Executive Committee’s Terms of Reference to focus on the
governance, financial and risk-management aspects of the College.   The Executive
Committee is responsible for evaluating the effectiveness of Council’s governance,
and to identify areas for improvement.  The Executive Committee also acts as the
oversight committee for the annual audit process, meeting with the auditors,
evaluating their performance, and making recommendations regarding re-
appointment.  The Executive Committee uses a comprehensive Audit Assessment
Tool that was developed by College staff and shared widely with other Colleges.
Lastly, the Executive Committee conducts the annual performance review of its
Registrar using a robust evaluation tool and feedback from stakeholders.

5. Non-Council Public Appointments
At its October 2018 Council meeting, the College approved changes to its By-laws to
appoint non-Council public members to College committees.  Public participation
and engagement is one of the College’s Strategic Priorities, and we are
implementing a process to begin recruitment of eligible non-Council public
members in the fall of 2019.

6. Eligibility/Disqualification Criteria for Elected Members of Council and Appointed
Non-Council Members
At its October 2018 Council meeting, the College approved changes to its By-laws to
require governance training prior to becoming eligible for election, or appointment
as a non-Council committee member (professional or public).  Often referred to as
“Boot Camp” in the sector, the College developed a Governance Manual,
Governance Education Modules and Exam that must be successfully completed
prior to being nominated for election to Council, or to being eligible for
appointment to a committee as a non-Council Committee member. This required
training serves to recruit only those members who are committed to making
decisions in the public interest.  Furthermore, the By-laws outline strict eligibility
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and disqualification criteria that align with our conduct related transparency 
initiatives.  Professional members are ineligible to run for election or apply for 
appointment with a moderate or significant professional conduct history.  As such, 
any sitting professional member of Council would be disqualified with the same 
professional conduct history. 

7. Public Member as President
All Bylaws and policies support the election of a public Council member to serve as
President.  The College’s Council was recently supporting the public member
serving in the Vice-President role to succeed the outgoing President in October
2019. Unfortunately, that public member was only offered a one-year appointment
in May 2019 which would not permit the member to fulfil the President’s one-year
term beginning in October.  Furthermore, all five public Council members’ terms
expire in the spring of 2020, so the College is unable to elect a public President of
Council this year as previously intended. The College asks the Ministry to reconsider
its recent practice of appointing public members to one-year terms only as this
poses a risk to meaningful contributions from public members on Council and to the
stability of Council in general.

8. Professional and Public Composition on Council
The Midwifery Act specifies the composition of Council to be seven to eight
professional members five to seven public members, one of the smallest Councils of
the health regulatory Colleges in Ontario.  Currently, our Council’s composition is
eight professional members and six public members.  The Executive Committee had
considered “sunsetting” a professional position on Council for its June 2019 election
cycle while at the same time requesting government to appoint a full complement of
public members to achieve equal proportion.  The Executive Committee decided
against sunsetting the professional position at this time as it could leave the Council
in the vulnerable position of being unconstituted should one member be
disqualified, or leave their position prior to their term expiring. We continue to
request for a full complement of public members from the Public Appointment
Secretariat to bring us to seven public members, which is nearly equal.

Lastly, our College supports a vision of appointing all members of Council on the basis of 
competencies, something that cannot be achieved without the proposed legislative changes.  
Furthermore, our College supports the equal remuneration of all Council members and 
understands the argument for remunerating all Council members from College funds.  While 
we support these proposed changes, smaller Colleges would be at a disadvantage if 
remuneration and the appointment process were fully assumed by the individual Colleges.  
Smaller Colleges may not have the human resources available to conduct searches to recruit 
eligible Council members and may not have the financial resources to compensate at an 
acceptable rate.  This may create an unfair advantage to larger Colleges with greater 
resources as potential appointees would seek higher compensation rates for identical work.  
Should the Ministry consider making this change, we would ask that smaller Colleges be 
consulted in finding an equitable and sustainable solution. 
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Please let us know if you would like to discuss any of our initiatives further.  We are 
pleased to provide you with any materials that assisted Council in making these decisions 
or that support Council in achieving good governance.   

Sincerely, 

Kelly Dobbin 
Registrar & CEO 

cc. Helen Angus, Deputy Minister of Health and Long-Term Care
Patrick Dicerni, Assistant Deputy Minister of Strategic Policy and Planning
Allison Henry, Director of Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight
Anne Coghlan, Executive Director, College of Nurses of Ontario
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The Federation of Health Regulatory Colleges of Ontario is an incorporated, not-
for-profit organization comprised of Colleges of the 26 regulated health 
professions in the province. The Federation focuses on regulatory matters as it 
promotes effective communication and cooperation among its members. 
Activities that support the fulfilling of the Federation’s purpose include the 
following: 

• Collective work on government priorities 

• The sharing of promising practices and the identification of new initiatives  

• Communication about the role of the regulator to the public and stakeholders 

• Ongoing support for existing Colleges 

• Mentoring for new regulators 

• Development of tools and materials to support the healthcare system in 
regulatory areas 

• Stakeholder collaboration and project participation 

• Delivery of education to support key College function areas 

A B O U T  T H E  F E D E R AT I O N  

F E D E R AT I O N  O F  H E A LT H  R EG U L ATO RY  C O L L EG E S  O F  O N TA R I O  

2018-2019 HIGHLIGHTS  
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F O C U S I N G  O N  G O V E R N A N C E   

Kevin McCarthy, the College of Nurses of Ontario’s Director, Strategy, presenting at  
FHRCO’s Governance Workshop on December 3, 2018. Read more about the session on page 3. 
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This report covers the Federation’s corporate year from the May 4, 2018, 
Annual Meeting to the April 25, 2019, Annual Meeting.  
 
FOCUSING ON PRIORITIES AND PLANNING 
In December 2018, the Federation’s Board of Directors participated in a 
facilitated discussion related to the organization’s purpose and priorities, 
recognizing the changing regulatory landscape and promising practices in 
organizational governance.  
 
A confirmation of issues opened the day followed by an identification of 
FHRCO’s critical functions that would address those issues. Prioritization was 
the next step, along with an agreement to keep the conversation going. 
Outcomes from those discussions are anticipated to come to fruition in the 
2019-2020 year.   

P R E S I D E N T  &  E X E C U T I V E  C O M M I T T E E  R E P O R T  Executive Committee 
Members: 

 
Kevin Taylor, President 

(effective October 10, 
2018; previous Vice-

President) 

Shenda Tanchak, 
President (until 

September 25, 2018)  

Elinor Larney, Vice-
President (effective 

October 10, 2018) 

Judy Rigby, Treasurer 

Jo-Ann Willson, Member 

Linda Gough, Past 
President  
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(Back row, from left): Brian O’Riordan (CASLPO), Anne Coghlan (CNO), Lisa Taylor (CDHO), Fazal 
Khan (College of Opticians of Ontario), Andrew Parr (CONO), Basil Ziv (CHO), Rod Hamilton 
(College of Physiotherapists of Ontario), Glenn Pettifer (College of Denturists of Ontario), Corinne 
Flitton (CMTO), Kelly Dobbin (CMO), Melisse Willems (College of Dietitians of Ontario), Allan Mak 
(CTCMPAO) 

(Front row, from left): Jo-Ann Willson (CCO), Brenda Kritzer (COKO), Linda Gough (CMRTO), Kevin 
Taylor (CRTO), Elinor Larney (COTO), Maureen Boon for Nancy Whitmore (CPSO),  Paula 
Garshowitz (College of Optometrists of Ontario) 

(Regrets): Irwin Fefergrad (RCDSO), Nancy Lum-Wilson (OCP), Rick Morris (College of 
Psychologists of Ontario), Judy Rigby (CDTO), Felicia Smith (COCOO), Kathy Wilkie (CMLTO) 
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OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER OF ONTARIO  (OFC) 
Elinor Larney continues to serve as FHRCO’s member on the OFC’s Stakeholder 
Engagement Committee, serving as a conduit for information-sharing. The 
Federation met with the Fairness Commissioner to hear more about the Office and 
its work related to Colleges’ French-language requirements in their registration 
processes.  
 

COLLEGE GOVERNANCE  
A priority for the Federation continues to be helping Colleges stay informed and be 
prepared for changes in the area of College governance. A FHRCO Governance 
Session was provided on December 3, 2018, featuring Anne Coghlan, Executive 
Director and CEO of CNO, with Kevin McCarthy, Director, Strategy, who presented 
information on CNO’s “Governance Vision 2020”. Richard Steinecke, Steinecke 
Maciura LeBlanc and FHRCO legal counsel, then provided some “Perspectives on 
Governance”. There were 70 in attendance; 20 Colleges were represented. 
 

FHRCO INTERVENES IN IMPORTANT CASES  
The Federation continues to take action when cases arise that relate to significant 
matters relevant to its members and to the Federation’s purpose, and it would be 
in the public interest to intervene. FHRCO had received intervenor status in the 
case Abdul v Ontario College of Pharmacists. The case was heard on May 8, 2018, 
with an outcome positive for health profession regulation in Ontario. 
 

MEETINGS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS AND THE FEDERATION BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS/EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE DURING 2018-2019 YEAR: 

• Deanna Williams following her work on recommendations for the Ministry of 
Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC) related to patient sexual abuse 

• MOHLTC Health Workforce Planning and Regulatory Affairs Division, providing 
general updates: 
• Denise Cole, Assistant Deputy Minister (ADM), with Lorraine de Braganca,    

A/Executive Assistant to the ADM 
• Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch: 

• Allison Henry, Director 
• Stephen Cheng, Manager, Strategic Regulatory Policy Unit 
• Thomas Custers, Manager, Regulatory Oversight and Performance Unit, 

focusing on the College Performance Measurement Framework Project  
• Marsha Pinto, Manager, Regulatory Design and Implementation Unit  
• Doug Ross, Sr. Policy Analyst, Regulatory Oversight and Performance Unit 

• Ontario’s Fairness Commissioner Grant Jameson with Kim Bergeron, Senior 
Program Advisor (see above) 

• Office of the Patient Ombudsman: Craig Thompson, Executive Director, to learn 
more about the Office and how Colleges and the Patient Ombudsman relate in 
Ontario’s healthcare system 
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P R E S I D E N T  &  E X E C U T I V E  C O M M I T T E E  R E P O R T  ( C O N T . )  

FHRCO: 

Fostering 

Healthy 

Regulatory 

Collaboration  

    in 

Ontario  
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Co-Chairs (2018) 

• Shaf Rahman (CRTO) 
• Bonita Thornton 

(College of 
Physiotherapists of 
Ontario) 

 
Co-Chairs (2019) 

• Andrea Lowes 
(CDHO) 

• Amy Stein (College of 
Opticians of Ontario) 

The Investigations and Hearings Network, open to all Federation members 
staff involved in investigations and hearings, provides Federation member 
staff with opportunities for regular meetings and online resources to share 
information and practice questions. 
 

A Symposium was held on June 22nd that focused on the Health Professions 
Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), with presentations by Christy Hackney, 
Registrar & Senior Manager of the Health Boards Secretariat, and Taivi Lobu, 
Vice Chair, HPARB, along with Alexandra Wilbee of WeirFoulds, and Nicole 
Zweirs (CPSO) and Wendy Waterhouse (RCDSO). 
 

A second Symposium was held on November 27th , featuring Bonni Ellis who 
presented on expert witnesses. The event was hosted by OCP and had 30 
attendees from 15 Colleges.  

I N V E S T I G AT I O N S  A N D  H E A R I N G S  N E T W O R K  

F H R C O  M E M B E R  S TA F F  K E Y  A R E A  N E T W O R K S  

• Communications  

• Corporate Services  

• Investigations and Hearings  

• Policy 

• Practice Advisors  

• Quality Assurance  

• Records Management  

• Registration  

Federation members’ Councils, Committees, and staff are provided with re-
sources for their individual orientation, ongoing education, and training needs:  

• Governance Workshop (first held in 2018) 

• Education for Health Professional Regulators of Ontario (EHPRO) (all as-
pects of the RHPA available online for members)  

• Training Videos about Patient Sexual Abuse (available online for members) 

• Discipline Orientation Workshops (see p.6 for more information) 

• Investigations and Hearings Symposia (see above for more information) 

• Communications Conferences (see p.5 for more information) 

E D U C AT I O N A L  O P P O R T U N I T I E S   

Staff have access to Networks for key College areas of 
activity, including the following: 
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FHRCO’s Communications Committee, led by Monique Poirier, 
continues to provide for opportunities to share expertise, focusing on 
support for the output of the Public Engagement Program - 

www.ontariohealthregulators.on.ca 
(OHR), the public-facing website that 
provides links to Colleges, specifically 
their public registers, information 
about complaints, and public 
consultations. This initiative is 
consistent with Colleges’ duty to 
promote and enhance relations 
between Colleges and the public. 
 

Public outreach through “OHR” was a focus for the Committee with 
the power of Google ads and boosted Facebook postings harnessed to 
promote the site over the past year. Additionally, all members of 
provincial parliament received 
letters, letting them know about 
OHR so that they could share 
information with their 
constituents. Directly interacting 
with the public, many 
Communications Committee 
members and Practice Advisors 
from their College teams also 
staffed a booth at the Zoomer 
Show on October 27 & 28, 2019. 
The success of that event led to 
confirmation of show 
attendance in 2019 - October 24 
& 25. (See CASLPO’s Facebook 
post from the event, right.) 
 

Another key event for the Communications Committee was the 
Communications Network-wide annual Communicators’ Day, held on 
November 23rd and hosted by CPSO. The Day included presentations 
from the College of Social Workers and Social Service Workers, and 
The Change Foundation. This opportunity for College communications 
staff to interact and learn from others’ experiences was well-received, 
with 35 attending from 23 Colleges. Thanks to Conference Planning 
Subcommittee chair Mark Sampson (CPSO) for leading this event.  

Communications Committee 
Members: 

• Monique Poirier (College of 
Dietitians of Ontario), Chair 

• Angie Brennand (CMTO) 

• Lisa Gibson (CASLPO) 

• Margaret Goulding (CMLTO) 
• Kristi Green (CNO) 

• Sabina Hikel for Shauna Grey 
(CRPO) 

• Victoria Marshall (CMO) 
through February 14, 2019 
meeting 

• Lisa Pretty (College of 
Physiotherapists of Ontario) 

• Mark Sampson (CPSO) 
• Nancy Stevenson (COTO) 
 

 
Communicators’ Day 
Planning Subcommittee 
Members: 

• Mark Sampson (CPSO), 
Chair 

• Angelo Avecillas (RCDSO) 
• Maria Feldman (CMTO) 

• Tova Wallace (College of 
Physiotherapists of 
Ontario) 

C O M M U N I C AT I O N S  C O M M I T T E E   
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List of Working Group Members: 

• Melisse Willems and Deborah Cohen (College of 
Dietitians of Ontario) (Chair) 

• Heather Binkle and Sandra Carter (COTO) 
• Alexandrea Carling, Samidha Joglekar, and Sarah 

Chapman Jay (CASLPO) 
• Barry Gang (College of Psychologists of Ontario) 
• Téjia Bain (College of Physiotherapists of Ontario) 
• Andrea Lowes (CDHO) 
• Lene Marttinen (CRPO) 
• Justin Rafton and Mina Kavanagh (College of 

Optometrists of Ontario) 

The Consent and Capacity Working Group was 
created to develop collaborative educational 
materials to ensure healthcare professionals 
fully understand their legal and professional 
obligations for obtaining consent in their 
practice settings. A survey of College members 
was conducted to help  determine next steps.  

Work continues by subgroups who are 
developing information to be shared with 
College members regarding two identified 
issues: capacity to consent and barriers to 
obtaining consent. 

C O N S E N T  A N D  C A PA C I T Y  W O R K I N G  G R O U P  

Page 6 

2018-2019 HIGHLIGHTS  

The Nominations Committee facilitated the annual call for nominations 
for the Executive Committee and Officers positions as well as members of 
FHRCO Committees and Chairs. Elections and appointments take place 
during the Board Meeting that immediately follows the Annual Meeting 
each year. The dedication of the many volunteers and support from 
member Colleges is one of the greatest of FHRCO’s resources. 

N O M I N AT I O N S  C O M M I T T E E   

List of Committee Members: 

• Linda Gough (CMRTO), Chair 
• Kathy Wilkie (CMLTO) 

• Jo-Ann Willson (CCO) 

Discipline Orientation 
Committee Members: 

• Tina Langlois 
(CMRTO), Chair 

• Eyal Birenberg 
(College of 
Optometrists of 
Ontario) 

• Aoife Coghlan (COTO) 

• Genevieve Plummer 
(OCP) 

• Ravi Prathivathi 
(CNO) 

D I S C I P L I N E  O R I E N TAT I O N  C O M M I T T E E  

The Discipline Orientation Committee continues to deliver quality education and 
training programs, providing comprehensive orientation for regulatory 
adjudicators. Basic training programs are available twice each year. Advanced 
sessions are held annually and are built on the knowledge and skills regulatory 
adjudicators acquired by attending the Basic session or participating in hearings. 
  
2018 Workshops: 

 

May 25 – Basic Program: 34 registrants (13 Colleges represented) 
 

November 1 & 2 – Basic and Advanced Programs: 22 Basic (13 Colleges) and 
40 Advanced (13 Colleges) 

 
Future Discipline Orientation Program Dates for 2019:  

Basic Sessions: May 3 & October 26 

Advanced Session: October 27 
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2018-2019 Highlights  

FEDERATION MEMBERS: 

• Dr. Nancy Whitmore assumed the role of Registrar/CEO of CPSO on June 4, 
2018. Dan Faulkner had served as Interim Registrar following the retirement 
of Dr. Rocco Gerace on February 28, 2018. 

• Rod Hamilton was named Registrar of the College of Physiotherapists of 
Ontario, effective December 18, 2018. Rod had served as Interim Registrar as 
of September 25, 2018, replacing Shenda Tanchak, Registrar & CEO.  

• Stamatis Kefalianos was appointed Acting Registrar of the CTCMPAO on April 
9, 2019, replacing Registrar & CEO Allan Mak. 

• Dr. Paula Garshowitz announced her retirement as the College of 
Optometrists of Ontario’s Registrar, effective the end of April 2019; Paula will 
be supporting the transition for the new Registrar into the summer 2019. 

 

EXTERNAL STAKEHOLDERS: 

• Hon. Christine Elliott was appointed Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 
on June 29, 2018. Dr. Helena Jaczek had served as Minister until the 
provincial election on June 7, 2018. 

• Helen Angus was appointed Deputy Minister of Health and Long-Term care 
on June 29, 2018, 

• Patrick Dicerni was appointed Assistant Deputy Minister of Health and Long-
Term Care, announced on October 18, 2018, replacing Denise Cole who was 
assigned to lead an “expedited review of legislation and regulation to identify 
impediments to more effective and efficient operations of the health system 
and the Ministry in its oversight role.”  

• Grant Jameson, Fairness Commissioner, completed his term in that role on 
April 4, 2019. 

T R A N S I T I O N S  

F H R C O  O N L I N E  R E S O U R C E S  

• An Interprofessional Guide on the Use of Orders, 
Directives and Delegation for Regulated Health 
Professionals in Ontario 

• Interprofessional Collaboration (IPC) eTool 

• Positions Available at FHRCO Member Colleges 

• Information on College Council Meeting Dates 

www.regulatedhealthprofefssions.on.ca 
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Suite 301 - 396 Osborne St 

PO Box 244 

Beaverton ON  L0K 1A0 

Phone: 416-493-4076 

Fax: 1-866-814-6456 

Email: info@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca 

Federation of Health 
Regulatory Colleges of 
Ontario (FHRCO) 

F e d e r a t i o n  o f  H e a l t h  R e g u l a t o r y  C o l l e g e s  o f  O n t a r i o   

Members: 
College of Audiologists and Speech-Language Pathologists of Ontario  

 (CASLPO) 

College of Chiropodists of Ontario (COCOO) 

College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) 

College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario (CDHO) 

College of Dental Technologists of Ontario (CDTO) 

College of Denturists of Ontario  

College of Dietitians of Ontario (CDO) 

College of Homeopaths of Ontario (CHO) 

College of Kinesiologists of Ontario  (COKO) 

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO)  

College of Medical Laboratory Technologists of Ontario (CMLTO) 

College of Medical Radiation Technologists of Ontario (CMRTO) 

College of Midwives of Ontario (CMO) 

College of Naturopaths of Ontario (CONO) 

College of Nurses of Ontario (CNO) 

College of Occupational Therapists of Ontario (COTO) 

College of Opticians of Ontario  

College of Optometrists of Ontario 

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO) 

College of Physiotherapists of Ontario 

College of Psychologists of Ontario 

College of Registered Psychotherapists Therapists of Ontario (CRPO) 

College of Respiratory Therapists of Ontario (CRTO) 

College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and  

              Acupuncturists of Ontario  (CTCMPAO) 

Ontario College of Pharmacists (OCP) 

Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario (RCDSO) 

w w w. r e g u l a t e d h e a l t h p r o f e s s i o n s . o n . c a  

2018-2019 HIGHLIGHTS  
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College of Midwives of Ontario 
Regulatory Performance Measurement Framework 
July 26, 2019 

FOR APPROVAL 

BRIEFING NOTE FOR COUNCIL  
 
Subject: Regulatory Performance Measurement Framework  
 
Background 
 
In accordance with s. 2.1 of the Health Professions Procedural Code, which is 
Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA), the College has a duty 
to ensure, as a matter of public interest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate 
numbers of qualified, skilled and competent regulated health professionals.  So as the 
regulator of the midwifery profession we have important outcomes to achieve, 
including ensuring that midwives registered with the College possess the relevant 
knowledge, skills and behaviours to provide safe, ethical and effective care; and 
taking action when risks are identified.  
 
While there exists a robust framework of external scrutiny of the College and its 
activities, the overall performance evaluation of RHPA colleges is not legislatively 
mandated. This means there are no independent, external reviews of individual 
Colleges and no benchmarking of their performance.  
 
In December 2016, Council approved a new strategic plan which emphasized the 
College’s commitment to regulatory excellence, openness, and accountability. An 
important part of this commitment was the development of the regulatory 
performance measurement framework. This framework provides the College with a 
way to review, evaluate and report on its performance using a set of standards based 
on its legislative mandate and expected outcomes. As mentioned above, this process 
is not legislatively mandated but is a voluntary commitment by the College to 
evaluate its performance and to demonstrate that it indeed regulates in the public 
interest. Council reviewed and provided feedback on the first draft of the framework 
in March 2019. 
 
In December 2018, representatives of the Regulatory Oversight and Performance 
Unit of the Ministry presented to Council on the Ministry’s plan to implement a 
regulatory oversight and measurement framework. The College welcomes this 
important initiative and looks forward to working with the Ministry to implement 
the framework when it is developed. At this stage, the College does not have any 
information as to when and how the Ministry plans to implement the framework. 

 
Key Considerations 
 

1. The framework describes the outcomes the College is expected to achieve in four 
broad domains: Regulatory Policy; Suitability to Practise; Openness and 
Accountability; Good Governance. It comprises a number of performance standards 
that form the basis of the performance measurement framework. 
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College of Midwives of Ontario 
Regulatory Performance Measurement Framework 
July 26, 2019 

FOR APPROVAL 

 
2. A performance standard is a minimum level of performance for the College to achieve 

while fulfilling its regulatory functions. Some of the standards must be met as they 
are required under legislation and regulations. Other standards are voluntary which 
means that the College will strive to meet them.  
 

3. In developing the performance standards, the College sought to give a balanced 
overall picture of what the organization is required to do, covering all functional areas 
of the College such as regulatory policy, registration, investigations and complaints, 
and quality assurance. Operational questions, such as budgeting and human 
resources, are beyond the scope of this framework.  
 

4. Qualitative and quantitative data will be used to demonstrate that the College has met 
each standard. Qualitative data will include descriptions of requirements as well as 
systems and procedures the College has in place. Quantitative data will be based on 
what data is available and feasible to collect given the College’s size and resources.  

 
5. The framework will be piloted in 2019/2020 fiscal year.  

 
6. Starting from 2020, the College will use the framework to conduct regular annual 

performance reviews. The College will compare the results of each year’s review with 
the results from previous years in order to determine how its performance has 
improved or worsened over time. Where differences are noted, an explanation will be 
provided. The results of the performance review will be presented to Council every 
year at its June meeting and will be posted to the website. 

 
 
Recommendations 
 
Council is asked to approve the revised regulatory performance measurement 
framework. 

 
Legislative and Other References 
 
s. 2.1 of the Health Professions Procedural Code, which is Schedule 2 to the RHPA 

 
Attachments  
 

Submitted by: Marina Solakhyan, Director, Regulatory Affairs 

1. Performance Measurement Framework 
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PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT FRAMEWORK 
                                                                                                                                                                                          

DOMAIN 1: REGULATORY POLICY MAKING 
Developing regulations and policies and setting standards of practice is one of our core regulatory 
functions. We have a rigorous approach to policy making to ensure that decisions are based on a 
proper evaluation of risk, solid evidence and a thorough analysis of options and impacts. This 
process will ensure that regulation is not adopted as the default solution but rather introduced to 
mitigate risk when other non-regulatory options are unable to deliver the desired results. Good 
regulatory policy is evidence-based and is supported by the views of the public, membership and 
stakeholders. 

Standards Evidence of Compliance 
 

Standard 1.1: Regulation is 
proportionate to the risk of harm 
being managed 
 
 

Evidence that regulatory impact assessments are 
conducted for all new regulatory initiatives to ensure that 
actions undertaken by the College are based on evidence 
of risk and are proportionate to the regulatory risk being 
managed. 
 
Note: Regulatory impact assessment is an assessment of the 
expected impact of each regulatory policy initiative that must 
be done before any regulatory measure is introduced or 
revised. The results of this analysis are, in effect, a justification 
of the need for regulation. The tool is designed to encourage 
rigour and better policy outcomes. 

Standard 1.2: Regulation is evidence-
based and reflect current best 
practice 

1. Evidence of work undertaken to take into account:  
- the developments in the area of 

professional regulation in Ontario and 
other jurisdictions  

- investigations and hearings data  
- learnings from quality assurance and 

registration  
2. Evidence that regulatory policy and other guidance is 

reviewed and revised at regular intervals. 

Standard 1.3: Regular and purposeful 
engagement is undertaken with 
stakeholders, midwives, and the 
public throughout the policy making 
process 
 

1. Engagement and discussions with relevant 
stakeholder organizations on all regulatory changes 
is undertaken  

2. Proposed changes are circulated to the public, 
stakeholders and the membership for consultation 
before they are approved  

3. College allows reasonable period for genuine 
comment  
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 2 

Standard 1.4: Regulatory policy 
decision-making is open and 
transparent 

1. The College provides a written response to issues 
raised during consultations  

2. Council briefing materials are posted on College 
website in advance of every Council meeting 

3. Council meetings are open to the public 
4. Notice of all new regulatory initiatives given to 

midwives and the public prior to the implementation 
date.  

 
DOMAIN 2: SUITABILITY TO PRACTISE 
The College’s overarching objective is the protection of the public, which involves the pursuit to 
protect, promote and maintain the health, well-being and safety of the public, to ensure that 
members of the profession are qualified, skilled and competent in the areas in which they 
practise, and to promote and maintain public confidence in the midwifery profession in Ontario. 
The College achieves its objectives by registering qualified midwives, setting requirements for 
continuous education and professional development, and investigating complaints and reports 
about midwives’ competence, professional conduct and fitness to practise. 

Standards Evidence of Compliance 
 

Standard 2.1: Midwifery applicants 
and non-practising midwives meet 
all College requirements before they 
are able to practise midwifery in 
Ontario 

1. Evidence that checks are carried out to ensure that 
only those who meet the College’s registration 
requirements are allowed to practise  

 

Standard 2.2: Midwives continually 
demonstrate suitability to practise 

1. Evidence that checks are carried out to ensure that 
only those who continue to demonstrate suitability to 
practise are allowed to practise  

2. Evidence that action is taken in cases where 
midwives were not able to demonstrate suitability to 
practise or if concerns were identified  

3. Evidence of mechanisms used to regularly assess 
how midwives are performing beyond annual 
registration renewal and quality assurance program 
reporting.  

Standard 2.4: Complaints made to 
the College about the professional 
misconduct, incompetence or 
incapacity of a midwife are acted 
upon  
 

1. Evidence that all complaints filed with the College 
are acted upon 

2. Evidence that decision making is proportionate to the 
risk of harm caused to current or potential clients  

 

Standard 2.5: Reports or other 
information obtained by the College 
about the professional misconduct, 
incompetence or incapacity of a 
midwife acted upon when 
appropriate 

1. Evidence that all reports received by the College, are 
acted upon 

2. Evidence that decision making is proportionate to the 
risk of harm caused to current or potential clients  
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Standard 2.6: Risk of harm to the 
public by individuals illegally 
practising midwifery is managed 
appropriately 

1. Evidence that the public have information to identify 
and report those engaged in unauthorized/illegal 
practice  

2. The process of dealing with non-registrants who 
hold out as midwives is proportionate and risk-based  

3. Evidence that the college is transparent about those 
engaged in illegal practice  

DOMAIN 3: OPENNESS AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
The College is committed to demonstrating that it acts with integrity and objectivity and to 
reporting regularly and publicly on the execution of its regulatory functions and. In meeting its 
public protection mandate, the College is accountable to three groups of stakeholders: the 
government, midwives, and the public (including clients). 
 

Standards Evidence of Compliance 
 

Standard 3.1: The College is 
accountable to the government   

The College provides all required and requested reports to 
the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care and other 
governmental agencies 

- Annual report to the Minister of Health and 
Long-Term Care on the College’s 
regulatory activities and financial position 

- E-health report 
- Health Professions Database (HPDB) 

annual report 
- Office of the Fairness Commissioner annual 

report 
Standard 3.2: Clients and the public 
have access to information and 
guidance to understand the College’s 
public protection role  
  

1. Evidence that there is accurate, accessible 
information available about processes and 
procedures relevant to the public. Note: “relevant” will 
be defined in the actual report. 

2. College policy requiring that all inquiries be 
responded to within 2 business days.  

3. Evidence of a mechanism to deal with complaints 
from midwives and clients about the responsiveness 
of College staff  

  
Standard 3.3: Public register provides 
easy access to information about 
midwives  

1. The public register is up to date and in compliance 
with legislation and bylaws that set out what should 
be public.  

2. The public register search is prominently displayed 
on the  website and allows users to search by the 
member’s name, registration number, city/town, and 
practice name  

3. The public register is accessible at all times  
4. Public has information to understand how to 

navigate the public register and how to interpret the 
information provided  
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Standard 3.4: The investigations and 
hearings process is fair, transparent, 
timely, consistent and focuses on 
public protection  

 
 

1. All parties to a professional misconduct, 
incompetence and incapacity case are provided with 
information to understand the process and are kept 
informed on the progress of their case. 

2. Evidence of defined timeframes and adherence to 
those (other than complaints that were resolved 
through ADR) 

3. Decisions are well-reasoned and consistent  
4. Compliance with committee orders or direction is 

effectively monitored  
5. Evidence that all decisions are made in accordance 

with internal processes and that adherence to 
processes is monitored through scheduled file 
reviews 
 

Standard 3.5: Midwives and 
midwifery applicants have access to 
information and guidance to 
understand College requirements  

1. Evidence of relevant information available including 
how compliance with requirements will be monitored 
and enforces. [Note: “relevant” will be defined in the 
actual report] 

2. There is practice advice available  
3. College policy requiring that all applicant/member 

inquiries be responded to within 2 business days 
4. Evidence of a mechanism to deal with complaints 

from midwives and clients about the responsiveness 
of College staff  
 

Standard 3.6: Registration processes 
are fair, transparent, impartial and 
objective 

1. Evidence of defined timeframes for all types of 
registration benchmarks and adherence to those  

2. Evidence that those referred to panels are informed 
about grounds for referral, their right to make 
written submissions, possible panel outcomes, next 
steps 

3. Evidence that midwives are informed of their right of 
appeal of College decisions  

4. Decision making is fair and transparent 
5. Evidence that decisions are well-reasoned  
6. Evidence that applicants/members have access to 

their application/member file when requested  
7. Effective compliance monitoring with Registration 

committee orders or direction  
8. Evidence that all decisions are made in accordance 

with internal processes and that adherence to 
processes is monitored through scheduled file 
reviews 
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Standards 3.8: The College’s 
regulatory performance is reviewed 
and publicly reported on annually. 

1. Annual performance reviews 
2. Evidence that identified 

concerns/recommendations are addressed 

DOMAIN 4: GOOD GOVERNANCE  
The College is expected to have governance arrangements that ensure effective functioning, 
preserve high degree of regulatory integrity to help us deliver our mandate and achieve decision 
making that is objective and impartial, and avoids conflict of interest, bias or improper influence. 

Standards Evidence of Compliance 
 

Standard 4.1:  There is a clear 
allocation of decision making and 
other responsibilities between the 
College’s governing body, its 
statutory committees, and the 
Registrar.  

1. Description of the College’s governance model 
2. Governance policies outlining the roles and 

responsibilities   

Standard 4.2: Council is structurally 
separated from inappropriate 
stakeholder or other influence to 
support regulatory integrity.  

 

 

1. Eligibility criteria and selection process to ensure 
independence of decision-making 

2. Evidence that Council members have limited terms 
on Council 

3. Evidence that policies, procedures and criteria for 
selection and terms of appointment of the 
governing body are documented and readily 
available to aid transparency and attract 
appropriate candidates.  

4. Evidence that internal processes are adhered to 
and monitored  

  
Standard 4.3: There are systems in 
place to protect independence of 
Council and committee decision 
makers from any interests other than 
the public interest 

1. Evidence of training around conflict of interest 
2. Conflicts of interest declared annually and 

continuously as needed 
3. Disqualification criteria/process to protect against 

potential conflict of interest  
4. Evidence that internal processes are adhered to 

and monitored 
 

Standard 4.4: There are systems in 
place to ensure that Council and its 
committees fulfill their duties 
professionally and ethically 

1. Relevant specialized training provided to Council 
and Committee members  

2. Code of Conduct for Council and Committee 
members 

3. Disqualification procedure to address potential 
unethical behaviours or non-compliance with 
Code of Conduct 

4. Evidence that internal processes are adhered to 
and monitored 
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Standard 4.5: Council and its 
committees have a diversity of skills 
and experience tailored to the 
functions of the College and are 
appropriately trained to ensure 
robust decision-making 

1. Orientation and trainings received 
2. Evidence that Council members collectively display 

the right mix of skills and competencies necessary 
to run Council effectively.  
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College of Midwives of Ontario 
Fee and Remuneration By-law Changes 
June 26, 2019 

FOR APPROVAL 
DEAPPROVAL 

BRIEFING NOTE FOR COUNCIL 
 
Subject: Fee and Remuneration By-law Change 
 
Background 
 
The College was advised by the Ministry that it should not anticipate receiving any 
future operational grants for fiscal 2019-20 and forward.   
 
The College addressed the loss of revenue at its Council meeting in December 2018. It 
was decided that a combination of increasing membership fees, using net assets, and 
finding additional efficiencies at the College would allow the College to continue its 
work and seamlessly deliver on its mandate. Council approved immediate budget 
reductions and recommended similar cuts to future budgets.    
 
On March 20, 2019, Council approved the recommendation to increase membership fees 
beginning October 1, 2019.  As required, the proposed bylaw changes were circulated to 
the membership and the public for a 60-day consultation.   The consultation closed 
May 30, 2019.   

 
Key Considerations 
 

1. Fees and Remuneration By-law  
 

The College’s annual membership and administration fees are addressed in Article 4 of 
the Fees and Remuneration By-law as follows: 
 
4.2 Every member who holds a certificate of registration in any class, shall pay an annual 
membership fee and an annual administration fee, which are due on or before October 1 of 
each year, regardless of the date of initial registration.  
4.3 The amount of the annual administration fee for every class of certificate is $50.  
4.4 Every member who holds a certificate of registration in any class other than inactive shall 
pay to the College an annual membership fee of $2150 on or before October 1 of 2018. Each 
year thereafter until this by-law is further amended inflationary increases of 2% will apply to 
the annual membership fee.  
4.5 Every member who holds a certificate of registration in the inactive class shall pay to the 
College an annual membership fee of $1075 on or before October 1 of 2018. Each year 
thereafter until this by-law is further amended inflationary increases of 2% will apply to the 
annual membership fee.  
4.6 The annual membership fee will be prorated depending on when in the year the member 
receives their class of certificate.  
 
Based on the approved 2019-2020 budget and forecasted revenue and budget 
projection in future years, Council recommended raising membership fees for all 
classes of registration, except the Inactive class, to $2550.  This increase would take 
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effect for the registration year beginning October 1, 2019 and be subject to a 2% 
annual inflationary increase thereafter.   
 
2. Fees for members in the Inactive class 

 
In the current bylaw, fees for members who are not actively practising the profession 
and are registered in the Inactive class are set at 50% of the General membership fee.  
This reduction acknowledges that many of those members are on temporary leaves 
from practice, for example, taking parental, sick or other leaves such as pursuing 
advanced education.  Raising Inactive class fee from its current amount to continue to 
track at 50% of the newly set General fee would disproportionality affect Inactive 
members as they are not earning a midwifery income and may result in Inactive 
members resigning from the College either temporarily or altogether. Therefore, 
Council approved no change with respect to fees for Inactive members, which will 
continue to track at a 2% increase each year over the fee set for October 1, 2018 of 
$1075. 

 
3. Consultation Feedback  

 
The Fee and Remuneration By-law consultation received 39 comments, resulting in a 4% 
member response rate.  This feedback is summarized by theme for ease of understanding; 
however, Council members are invited to view the feedback in its entirety.  All feedback, as 
well as a rationale for the proposed changes and a Q&A page, can be viewed on the 
consultation page of the College’s website.   

 
a) General disappointment and frustration regarding fee increase. 

 
A few members responded positively to the proposed change, expressing that they 
anticipated the fee increase to be even higher due to the unexpected loss of Ministry 
funding.  They also expressed appreciation for the College and the work that we 
accomplish and remarked on the clear manner in which we presented the information.  
The majority of responses, however, expressed disappointment with the proposed fee 
increase.  Many members stated that they are underpaid and undervalued, and any fee 
increase adds to the stress of their work.  Many expressed frustrations that, despite 
winning their case with the Human Rights Tribunal of Ontario regarding pay 
discrimination based on gender, they haven’t seen a pay increase and the proposed 
College fee increase exacerbates this issue. Some expressed that the College’s fee increase, 
along with Association fees, professional development fees and other responsibilities of 
practising their profession pushes them closer to burnout and may consider quitting the 
profession altogether.  
 
College response:   
 
The College is concerned that a small profession, especially one whose membership 
numbers and compensation are controlled by the government, is burdened with the total 
costs of regulation.  The College has no role to play in increasing numbers of midwives in 
the province as a means to increase revenue nor in negotiating midwives’ compensation 
levels. The Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care sets the number of midwives able to 

Page 125 of 142

https://www.cmo.on.ca/about-the-college/consultations/public-consultation-fee-and-remuneration-by-law-2019/


 

 

 
College of Midwives of Ontario 
Fee and Remuneration By-law Changes 
June 26, 2019 

FOR APPROVAL 
DEAPPROVAL 

practise in Ontario each year, and the number of baccalaureate midwifery education 
program positions are determined by the Ministry of Training, Colleges, and Universities. 
The Ministry of Health is also responsible for setting midwives’ compensation rates. 
 
The College can, however, continue to work to further reduce costs while still meeting its 
mandate to regulate in the public interest and provide organizational stability.  The 
College hopes that once revenue exceeds expenses and there are sufficient net assets to 
draw from for unexpected risks, that fees could be re-examined in the future.   
 

b) Recommend moving outside of downtown Toronto.   
 

College response:  
 
This was a common theme, appearing in 9 of the 39 comments, and has been raised in 
previous consultations as well.   
 
Staff and Council members meet regularly with stakeholders including the Ministry, other 
health regulatory colleges, the Association of Ontario Midwives, the Office of the Fairness 
Commissioner, Midwifery Education Programs and the International Midwifery Pre-
Registration Program.  The College benefits from being able to share resources with other 
Colleges which are located in Toronto.  The College is located in mid-Toronto, where rent 
is more affordable than the downtown core yet still provides easy access along the Yonge 
subway line for all staff, Council members, and stakeholders.  A move outside of Toronto 
would mean a sudden loss of all staff which would greatly interrupt services and put the 
College’s operations and deliverables at significant risk. While the College’s budget for 
rent and utilities is not significant, when the College’s lease expires in August 2022, we 
will explore all options to limit expenses in this area. 
 

c) Recommend lower fees for some, including new registrants, inactive members, and part-
time midwives, and increase payment plan options. 
 
College response: 
 
The feedback in this area was valuable and will be noted to inform future discussion 
around fees.   
 
The College presently offers an Inactive Class with a 50% reduced membership fee.  Initial 
registration fees continue to be pro-rated based on the months of practice before 
registration renewal in October.  

 
The College cannot meet its budgetary requirements and offer lesser fees for new 
registrants and those working less than full time or further reduce Inactive class fees at 
this time.  The College commits to look at this alternative and/or additional reduction of 
fees once the College’s revenue exceeds expenses and there are sufficient net assets to 
mitigate unexpected risks.   
 
Members are permitted to pay annual registration fees on credit in one installment and 
continue to have the option to pay by cheque in two installments.  The College has 
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previously reported that an increased number of installments resulted in a proportionate 
increase in penalty fees, as there were more opportunities for errors resulting in non-
sufficient funds.  Members who have extenuating circumstances can continue to apply to 
the Registrar for consideration of alternate payment plans or reduced fees.   

 
Recommendations 
 
The following motion is submitted for consideration: 
 
That the proposed changes to the Fee and Remuneration By-law be approved. 
 

 
Implementation Date 
 
Immediate 

 

 
Legislative and Other References 
 
Fees and Remuneration By-law 

 
 
Attachments  

Submitted by:  
 
Kelly Dobbin, Registrar & CEO 

 
Proposed Fee and Remuneration By-law revisions 
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1 ARTICLE 1 – INTERPRETATION  
 

1.1 Definitions  
 
In these by-laws:  
“Act” means the Midwifery Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 31, as amended from time to time, 
and includes the Regulations thereunder.  
 
“College” means the College of Midwives of Ontario/L'Ordre des sage-femmes de 
l'Ontario. “Committee” means a committee of the College and includes statutory, 
standing and ad hoc committees and any committee established by the Council 
under these by-laws, including planning groups and working groups, but does not 
include a Board of Inquiry or a panel of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports 
Committee.  
 
“Council” means the Council of the College.  
 
“Member" means a member of the College as that term is used in the RHPA and the 
Act unless otherwise indicated.  

 
“Registrar” means the person appointed by the Council as Registrar for the College 
and includes an Acting Registrar.  
 
“RHPA” means the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 18, as amended 
from time to time, and includes the regulations thereunder. 
 

1.2 Consistency with RHPA and Act  
All provisions of these and all by-laws of the College shall be interpreted in a 
manner consistent with the RHPA and the Act and where any inconsistency is found 
to exist, the inconsistent provision shall, where practical, be severed from the by-
law.  
 
 

2 ARTICLE 2 – APPLICATION FEES 
 

2.1 A person who submits an application for a certificate of registration in any class 
shall pay an application fee of $100. 
 

2.2 Application fees are due at the time the application is submitted. Application fees 
are non-refundable, either in whole or in part. 
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3 ARTICLE 3 – INITIAL MEMBERSHIP AND ADMINISTRATION FEES 
 

3.1 Initial membership fees for certificates of registration issued in October shall be the 
same amount as the annual membership fee payable for that year, and an 
administration fee of $50. 
 

3.2 Initial membership fees for certificates of registration issued in a month other than 
October will be 1/12 of the annual fee for each month of membership between the 
month of initial registration and the following October, and an administration fee of 
$50. 
 
 

4 ARTICLE 4 – ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP AND ADMINISTRATION FEES 
 

4.1 The College’s membership cycle runs from October 1 to September 30 each year. 
 

4.2 Every member who holds a certificate of registration in any class, shall pay an 
annual membership fee and an annual administration fee, which are due on or 
before October 1 of each year, regardless of the date of initial registration. 
 

4.3 The amount of the annual administration fee for every class of certificate is $50. 
 

4.4 Every member who holds a certificate of registration in any class other than 
inactive shall pay to the College an annual membership fee of $2550 on or before 
October 1 of 2019.   Each year thereafter until this by-law is further amended 
inflationary increases of 2% will apply to the annual membership fee. 
 

4.5 Every member who holds a certificate of registration in the inactive class shall pay 
to the College an annual membership fee of $1075 on or before October 1 of 2018.  
Each year thereafter until this by-law is further amended inflationary increases of 
2% will apply to the annual membership fee. 
 

4.6 The annual membership fee will be prorated depending on when in the year the 
member receives their class of certificate. 
 

4.7 The Registrar shall notify every member of the amount of the fees due and the day 
on which they are due, at least sixty (60) days before the fees are due. 
 

4.8 Members may pay their annual membership fees and administration fees in 
instalments. Instalment amounts will be set by the College at least 60 days before 
the fees are due. The instalment due dates are as follows: 

i. if paying the amount owing in one instalment:  October 1 
ii. if paying the amount owing in two instalments: October 1 and February 
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5 ARTICLE 5 – PENALTY FEES 
 

5.1 If a member fails to pay the annual membership fee, on or before the day on which 
the fee is due, the member shall pay, in addition to the outstanding balance owed, a 
penalty equivalent to fifteen percent (15%) of the annual membership fee. If a 
member chooses to pay a fee by instalment, where allowed, the late penalty fee 
owing will still be fifteen percent (15%) of the annual membership fee (rather than 
fifteen percent (15%) of the amount of the late instalment). The entire late penalty 
fee will be levied each and every time the is late with an instalment payment. 
 

5.2 If a member fails to submit a fully completed application, including any 
certifications or proof of competency that may be required, on or before the day on 
which the application is due, the member shall pay a penalty equivalent to fifteen 
percent (15%) of the annual membership fee.   If a member chooses to pay a fee by 
instalment, where allowed, the late penalty fee owing will still be fifteen percent 
(15%) of the annual membership fee (rather than fifteen percent (15%) of the 
amount of any instalment). 
 

5.3 If a member is granted an alternate payment arrangement for their annual 
membership fee by the Registrar and fails to meet the obligations under that plan 
then the member shall pay, in addition to the outstanding balance owed, a penalty 
equivalent to fifteen percent (15%) of the annual membership fee.  
 

5.4 If a member fails to pay any committee, program, or administrative fee, the College 
may charge interest at a rate of 1.5% per month on any committee, program or 
administation fee, that is unpaid as of the applicable due date, and the College shall 
consider the accrued interest on any unpaid fee as part of the fee itself. 
 
 

6 ARTICLE 6 – NON-PAYMENT OF FEES 
 

6.1 When a member is suspended due to non-payment of fees, the suspension will 
remain in effect until such time as all outstanding fees plus an additional 
administration fee of $50 are received. If the suspension is not lifted, the member’s 
certificate of registration is revoked, without further notice, one year after the day 
the suspension began. 
 

6.2 When a member is revoked for non-payment of fees the former member shall pay 
all outstanding fees upon reinstatement.   
 
 

7 ARTICLE 7 – RECEIPTS 
 

7.1 Official tax receipts are issued by the College for total annual membership and 
administration fees received during a taxation year. 
 

7.2 Tax receipts shall be available to members by the end of February the following 
year. 
 

7.3 The tax receipt will indicate the registration period for which the fees apply. 
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8 ARTICLE 8 – COMMITTEE AND PROGRAM FEES 
 

8.1 The College may charge a member a fee in connection with decisions or activities 
that the College or a College committee are required or authorized to make or do in 
respect to a member. 
 

8.2 Committee or program fees include, but are not limited to the following: 
i. For assessments and evaluations ordered by the Quality Assurance 

Committee or Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Programs 
ordered by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee or the Quality 
Assurance Committee: 

a. A member shall pay up to $2500 for each assessment and each 
follow-up assessment. 

b. For programs delivered by a third party, the fee charged by that 
party;  

ii. For monitoring, supervision, or assessment pursuant to a decision of the 
Registration Committee, the fee charged by the monitor, supervisor or 
assessor. 

iii. For Requalification Programs the applicant or member bears all costs 
 
 

9 ARTICLE 9 – ALTERNATE PRACTICE ARRANGEMENTS 
 

9.1 The fee for the application for approval of an Alternate Practice Arrangement is 
$100 and is due at the time of application. 
 

9.2 The fee for the annual renewal of an Alternate Practice Arrangement is $50 and is 
due at the time of the application for renewal. 

 
9.3 Application and renewal fees are non-refundable, either in whole or in part. 
 
 
10 ARTICLE 10 – PROFESSIONAL CORPORATIONS 

 
10.1 The certificate of authorization is valid from April 1 to March 31 each year. 
 
10.2 The renewal of a certificate of authorization is due on or before April 1 of each year. 
 
10.3 The fee for the application for a certificate of authorization, including on any 

reinstatement of a certificate of authorization is $500. 
 
10.4 The fee for the annual renewal of a certificate of authorization is $250. 
 
10.5 A professional corporation, or a member listed in the College’s records as a 

shareholder of the professional corporation, shall pay an administrative fee of $50 
for each notice sent by the Registrar to the corporation or member for failure of the 
corporation to renew its certificate of authorization on time. 

 
10.6 The administrative fee is due within thirty (30) days of the date that the notice was 
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sent and, if the fee is not received by the College within that time, an additional 
notice may be issued and an additional administrative fee may be required at that 
time and after every subsequent thirty (30) day period. 

 
10.7 The fee for the issuing of a duplicate document or certificate respecting a 

professional corporation, other than the first certificate of authorization is $100. 
 
 

11 ARTICLE 11 –COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEMBER REMUNERATION 
 

11.1 Council members and committee members shall be paid honoraria for participation 
in and preparation for meetings and other expenses reasonably incurred in relation 
to the performance of their duties in accordance with the honoraria and expense 
policy as approved from time to time by Council.   (Schedule 1) 

 
 
12 ARTICLE 12 – OTHER MEMBER FEES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
12.1 FEES FOR CHANGE OF CLASS 

A member requesting a change from the Inactive class to the General class will be 
charged $50. 

 
12.2 FEES FOR LETTERS OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT  

The fee for the College to issue a Letter of Professional Conduct for a member is 
$40 if the member requests that the letter be issued in fifteen (15) days or less and 
it is so issued, and $60 if the member requests that the letter is issued in five (5) 
days or less and it is so issued. 

 
12.3 FEES FOR LETTERS OF STANDING AND PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

The fee for the College to issue a letter of Standing and Professional Conduct for a 
member is $40 if the member requests that the letter be issued in fifteen (15) days 
or less and it is so issued, and $60 if the member requests that the letter is issued 
in five (5) days or less and it is so issued. 

 
12.4 FEE FOR JURISPRUDENCE COURSE 

The registration fee for the jurisprudence course for midwifery in Ontario is $300. 
 

12.5 FEES FOR REQUESTS 
A person who requests the Registrar to do anything that the Registrar is required 
or authorized to do by statute, regulation, by-law, or policy shall pay, if a fee is 
specified, the specified fee; or if no fee is specified and if the Registrar has set a 
fee, the fee set by the Registrar. 

 
12.6 REGISTRAR’S DISCRETION 

The Registrar may reduce the amount of any fee payable to the College or alter the 
timing or manner in which a fee is payable in accordance with Council policy or 
where the Registrar is satisfied that there are exceptional circumstances which 
warrant the exercise of discretion. 
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12.7 FEES FOR RETURNED CHEQUES 
A member, who pays a fee owed to the College by cheque, shall pay a fee of $40, in 
addition to any outstanding balance, in the event that the cheque is returned to 
the College. 

  
12.8 NAME CHANGE 

A fee of $100 will apply in order to re-issue registration documents and update 
records as a result of a name change. 

 
12.9 DUPLICATE DOCUMENTS 

A fee of $25 per document will be charged to issue duplicate documents. 
 

12.10 ADMINISTRATIVE FEE FOR NOTICES – FAILURE TO PROVIDE INFORMATION  
A member shall pay an administrative fee of $50 for each notice sent by the 
Registrar to the member for failure to provide information or a form to the College 
or a Committee of the College within thirty (30) days of being requested or 
required to do so. 

 
12.11 ACCESS TO REGISTRATION APPLICANT RECORDS 

The fee for a registration applicant to receive a copy of their file is $50. 
   

12.12 REINSTATEMENT HEARING 
An applicant requesting a hearing pursuant to the Health Professions Procedural 
Code of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 to consider reinstatement of their 
certificate of registration shall pay an application fee of $3,500.00. $500.00 of that 
fee shall be non-refundable. The balance of that fee ($3,000.00) shall be 
refundable but only if the applicant withdraws the application by notice in writing 
received by the College not less than 30 days prior to the date scheduled to 
commence the hearing. 

 
12.13 REQUEST FOR A RECOUNT 

The fee for a request for a recount of election results is $100. The fee shall be 
refunded if the recount confirms the election results were incorrect. 

 
12.14 APPLICATION FOR REINSTATEMENT 

A person who submits an application for reinstatement in any class shall pay an 
application fee of $100. 

 
12.15 REQUEST FOR RECEIPTS, TAX RECEIPTS OR LETTERS 

A person who requests a hard copy of a receipt, tax receipt or letter shall pay a    
fee of $50 for the provision of the hard copy document which is otherwise 
available electronically. 

 
12.16 REQUEST FOR FILE FROM MEMBER OR FORMER MEMBER 

A member or former member shall pay a fee of $100 to obtain a copy of their       
registration file.  
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SCHEDULE 1 
 

Honoraria (per diem) and meeting preparation for professional members of Council: 
CHAIR1 RATES MEMBER RATES PREPARATION RATES 
> 30 mins up to 2 hrs = $95.50 > 30 mins up to 2 hrs = $80 > 30 mins up to 2 hrs = $80 
> 2.05 hrs up to 4 hrs =$191.00 > 2.05 hrs up to 4 hrs =$160 > 2.05 hrs up to 4 hrs =$160 
>4.05 hrs up to 6 hrs = $286.50 >4.05 hrs up to 6 hrs = $240 >4.05 hrs up to 6 hrs = $240 
>6.05 hrs = $382.00 >6.05 hrs    = $320 >6.05 hrs    = $320 

 

Honoraria (per diem) and meeting preparation for non-Council public members of Council: 
CHAIR1 RATES MEMBER RATES PREPARATION RATES 
Up to 3 hrs = $125 Up to 3 hrs = $75 Up to 3 hrs = $75 
>3 hrs = $250                                                             >3 hrs = $150 >3 hrs = $150 

 
Summary of eligible expenses: 
Item Allowable Expenses Excluded Expenses 
Travel (see 
chart below) 

Necessary travel to and from 
meeting (most economical mode 
of transportation required) 

Traffic violations/fines; vehicle 
repairs and personal 
travel insurance 

Accommodation Hotels and private homes. Distance 
conditions apply2

 

(College approval is required 
for hotel costs, private homes 
are charged at $30/night) 

Entertainment and personal 
services (e.g. movie rentals and 
dry cleaning) 

Food Meals as noted in the chart below Alcoholic beverages 

Personal Phone Calls 1 long distance call of 10 minutes 
per day while out of town 

Telephone charges in excess of 10 
minutes 

Job Accommodations Necessary attendant care, child 
care and other identified services. 

 

Conferences Registration fees; necessary 
travel to/from event.  (Council 
approval 
required) 

Banquets, entertainment events, 
special tours, etc. 

 

Breakfast = $10.00 Lunch = $12.50 Dinner = $22.50 Daily Maximum = $45 

Personal vehicle expenses3: 
Distance Driven Southern Ontario Northern Ontario* 
0-4000 km 40 ¢/km 41 ¢/km 
*Northern Ontario as defined by the Ministry of 
Health: Highway 400 to north of Port Severn 
Highway 11 to north of Severn Bridge 
Highway 52 to east of Severn Bridge 
Highway 60 at Oxtongue Lake 
Highway 60 east to Highway 62 at Killaloe Station 
Highway 62 to Pembroke 

 
1 Must be the assigned role in the particular meeting for which one is claiming. 
2 Residence exceeds a radius of 40 km (one-way) of the meeting site. 
3 Can be charged if the residence exceeds a radius of 40 km (one-way) of the meeting site 
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FOR APPROVAL 

BRIEFING NOTE FOR COUNCIL  
 
Subject: Revised Sexual Abuse Prevention Policy   
 
Background 
 
The Executive Committee approved the Sexual Abuse Prevention Policy (SAPP) in May 
2018. The policy was scheduled for review in May of this year.  
 
At the time the SAPP was presented to the Executive Committee, certain terms in the 
SAPP were not defined as they were not defined in the corresponding regulation on 
which it was based (“Patient Criteria Under Subsection 1(6) of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code”). Only two terms, “minor health care service” and “direct interaction” 
were defined and approved by the Committee as other Colleges had already considered 
their meaning and the College decided to be consistent with the interpretation of these 
terms across health professions.  
 
However, other terms such as “reasonable steps” and “reasonable opportunity” were 
not considered or defined across colleges. Eventually, staff defined them within the 
midwifery context and incorporated them into the Guide on Mediating Risk in Caring for 
Related Persons and Others Close to Midwives, to assist the membership in interpreting 
the SAPP to inform their practice. This guide was approved by Council in December 2018. 
It was understood that when the SAPP would be reviewed in 2019, the outstanding 
definitions would be incorporated into the SAPP.  
 
The Client Relations Committee met in May this year to review the revised SAPP that 
included the outstanding definitions. The Committee approved the revised SAPP and 
directed that it be brought forward to Council for approval. 

Key Considerations 
 

• It is best practice in policy drafting to define any terms that may be vague within the 
policy itself  

• Thus far, the College has not heard of any difficulty on part of the membership in 
understanding the SAPP or the Guide on Mediating Risk in Caring for Related Persons & 
Others Close to Midwives, which provides further guidance on the SAPP 

 
Recommendations 
 
The following recommendation is submitted for approval: 
 

• That the Revised SAPP be approved 
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Implementation Date 
 
June 2019 

 
Legislative and Other References 
 
O. Reg. 260/18: Patient Criteria Under Subsection 1(6) of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code  

 
Attachments  

Submitted by: Client Relations Committee 
 

• Revised SAPP with highlighted additions 
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Sexual Abuse Prevention Policy 
Purpose 

This policy sets out the College’s definition of the beginning and end of a midwife-client 
relationship and assists midwives in complying with the provisions of the Regulated Health 
Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) that address sexual abuse.  

Scope 

This policy applies to all midwives registered with the College. 

Definitions  

“Direct Interaction” is: 

• the first in-person meeting between a midwife and client, even if the client does not
ultimately retain the midwife for midwifery services; or

• the first instance of communication in relation to clinical care being provided by a
midwife to a client

In the preceding definition: 

• “Clinical Care” is care provided to a client by a midwife within the scope of midwifery
practice or outside the scope under delegation

• “Communication” refers to dialogue or authorization for an assessment that takes 
place in-person, electronically, through mail or through a mobile device between a 
midwife and client

A “minor” health care service consists of episodic or short-term care provided for a 
condition that is not serious, complex or urgent in nature  

“Reasonable steps” are those steps that correspond to the level of risk at hand, which includes 
the health condition of the spouse or sexual partner and the surrounding circumstances 

“Reasonable opportunity” involves a consideration of the amount of time that is available to 
transfer care, given the level of risk at hand, including the health condition of the spouse or 
sexual partner and the surrounding circumstances 

 “Sexual abuse” of a client by a midwife is: 

• Sexual intercourse or other forms of physical sexual relations between the midwife
and the client,

• Touching, of a sexual nature, of the client by the midwife, or
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• Behaviour or remarks of a sexual nature by the midwife towards the client.1

 “Sexual nature” does not include touching, behaviour or remarks of a clinical nature 
appropriate to the service provided.2 

Policy Statement 

The Beginning and Termination of a Midwife-Client Relationship 
A midwife-client relationship begins when there is a direct interaction between a midwife and 
an individual at the earliest occurrence of the following events:   

• the midwife has, in respect of a health care service provided by the midwife to the
individual, charged or received payment from the individual or a third party on behalf
of the individual

• the midwife has contributed to a health record or file for that individual
• the individual has consented to the health care service recommended by the midwife
• the midwife prescribed a drug for which a prescription is needed to the individual3

A midwife-client relationship ends at the latest occurrence of the preceding events. 

Sexual Relationship Prohibited During the Midwife-Client Relationship 
A midwife must not become sexually involved with a client. Sexual involvement with a client 
is considered to be sexual abuse under the RHPA, regardless of whether the midwife believes 
there is consent from the client.  

Pursuant to the RHPA, a midwife cannot provide midwifery care to their spouse.4 As such, a 
midwife-client relationship cannot exist between a midwife and their spouse. 

A midwife can only provide care to a sexual partner, and not be considered as sexual abuse, if 
all of the following conditions are satisfied:  

• There is, at the time the midwife provides the health care services, a sexual relationship
between the individual and the midwife

• The midwife provided the health care service to the individual in emergency
circumstances or in circumstances where the service was minor in nature

• The midwife has taken reasonable steps to transfer the care of the individual to another
midwife or regulated health professional and there is no reasonable opportunity to
transfer care to another regulated midwife or regulated health professional5

In these circumstances, the sexual partner to whom care is being provided is not considered 
to be a client of the midwife.6  

1 s. 1(3), Health Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, S.O., 1991, c. 18. 
2 Ibid, s. 1(4). 
3 Patient Criteria Under Subsection 1(6) of the Health Professions Procedural Code, O.Reg. 260/18, s. 1.1. 
4 Supra note 1, s. 1(5) and (6). 
5 Supra note 3, s. 1.2. 
6 Ibid.  
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Sexual Relationship Following Termination of the Midwife-Client Relationship 
Pursuant to the RHPA, a former client is deemed to remain a client for the purposes of the 
sexual abuse provisions for a period of one year from when the former client would otherwise 
cease to be a client.7 

As a result, if one year has passed since the latest occurrence of events that could occur in a 
midwife-client relationship as listed above, the former client will no longer be considered a 
client and a sexual relationship with the former client after that year has passed would not be 
prohibited.  

References (legislative and other) 
1. Health Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2, to the Regulated Health Professions

Act
2. Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 18

Approved by: Executive Committee  
Approval date: May 16, 2018 
Implementation Date: May 16, 2018 
Last reviewed and revised: May 16, 2018 

7 Supra note 3, s. 1(6). 
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